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(Since the financial year ended 31 December 2009)corporate

(the “Company” and together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Group”) was listed 
on the Mainboard of the Singapore 
Exchange Limited (“SGX”) in 2000. 

The Group’s core businesses include 
the design, manufacture, assembly, 
distribution and provision of flowline 
control products and services; research 
and development, design, manufacture 
and distribution of high pressure and 
temperature valves and related oilfield 
products; distribution of fire protection 
and detection systems; distribution of 
electrical products; and chartering of 
vessels and barges to offshore oil and 
gas related industries.

The Group is also involved in Build-
Operate-Own and Build-Operate-
Transfer projects in the power and 
utilities industry, provision of electricity 
and steam; provision of waste water 
treatment services and management 
and consultancy services for 
environmental-related projects as well 
as, businesses of sales and mining of 
coal and other natural resources.

The Company recognises Excellence as 
the key to ultimate success.

Federal 
International 
(2000) Ltd

www.federal.com.sg
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We also focus on continuous 
improvement in operational efficiency, 
strategic re-alignment of our business 
activities and expansion of our 
distribution network.

We will continue to adopt new 
mindsets, conceive new ambitions and 
devise winning strategies to pursue 
steady growth in revenue, profit and 
shareholder value. At the same time, 
we will continue to provide quality 
products, competitive pricing and 
excellent service to our customers.
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OUR
MOTTO

We are committed 
to providing quality 
service. 

Contents
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3chairman’s 
message

Dear Shareholders,

The financial year ended 31 December 
2010 (“FY2010”) saw the Federal Group 
continuing their focus on strategic 
divestments of non-core investments 
– a strategy which empowers the 
Group to strengthen their business 
direction and balance sheet and most 
importantly, an increased working 
capital for new investments in the 
coming year. 

The performance of our businesses was 
affected by the global and economic 
uncertainties over the last two years 
since 2009. Compared to the previous 

financial year, the Group Revenue for 
FY 2010 ended with a lower revenue 
of $180.1 million and higher loss 
before tax of $60.2 million. Despite 
these challenges, our team has put in 
concerted efforts on both operational 
and financing fronts in managing 
and overcoming them. However, 
conservative and prudent accounting 
dictates that we make an impairment 
for certain debtors and assets. 

In recent years, with our past success 
in business, we ventured and had 
diversified beyond our core business 
into Energy, Resource and Marine 
logistics, being ancillary and extended 
businesses to ours. We were involved 

in several Build-Operate-Own (“BOO”)/
Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) 
projects which were capital intensive 
in the aspiration to provide for stable 
recurring revenue stream and return. 
However,  external factors such as 
regulatory restrictions, availability of 
resources and credit crunch due to 
the weakened economic environment, 
resulted in protracted start-up periods, 
thereby causing some of these projects 
to be inadvertently delayed. The 
contribution and returns from these 
projects in the current year did not 
commensurate with the time and effort 
being invested in. 

This year also saw our entry into 
Resource segment in Indonesia in the 
mining of coal, as well as the sale and 
trading of coal and other commodities. 
While the tenure of the coal mining 
production and delivery schedules were 
dampened by the inclement weather, 
it also gave us invaluable experience 
and insight into the rapidly growing coal 
industry. 

One of the successes for this year is our 
two BOO/BOT projects in China which 
are panning out well. Both the waste 
water treatment plant (first phase) 
for the Sichuan Panzhihua Vanadium-
Titanium Industrial Park and the tap 
water supply project in Chengdu are 
expected to generate revenue streams 
for the Group this year.  

Our Strengths and Strong 
Business Fundamental In 
Our Core Sector 

Despite our diversification and 
broadened activity, our Trading 
business segment continued to remain 
as the significant contributor to the 
Group. To sharpen our competitive edge 
for sustainable growth of our business 
and to serve our customers better, our 
growth strategy will continue to be 
anchored on our core competence 
and strengths in the Trading business 
segment through broadening our 
product base. Procuring a wider range 
of core products will build on and 
enhance our market positioning. In 

addition, we will continue to tap the 
growing business opportunities in 
the high-growth markets especially 
in China, Indonesia and selected 
markets in the Middle East. With 
successful implementation of 
numerous procurement projects such 
as the Algerian line pipe project, we 
will be looking into contributing our 
competitive capabilities to further grow 
our Trading business by participating in 
more sizeable procurement contracts, 
especially in oil-producing countries 
such as Indonesia. We are confident 
that with each successful completed 
project, our rate of success heightened 
with our know how and experience. We 
have now established good business 
networks and we will continue to create 
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We have demonstrated our resilience in 
weathering this challenging period. Our renewal 

is progressing well and we are well-poised to 
rebuild for the future. We have achieved healthy 
cashflow due to better operating effectiveness 

and capital asset divestment.

our market presence in fast-growing 
markets such as Vietnam where we 
have achieved some initial success.   

Cost Savings Initiatives

Apart from continued efforts to grow 
the top line, the Group is putting in 
measures to build on our earnings 
through leaner cost structure across 
the group. Our restructuring will 
enable us to produce effective results 
with fewer resources by streamlining 
our back-end support functions and 
centralising our trading activities. We 
have rationalized our coal mining 
operations by out-sourcing the 
management of the coal mine to focus 
on growth and profitability. 

Fund Raising Initiatives

In anticipation of the financial 
challenges and in support of the 
business, we have successfully 
completed two fund-raising exercises 
in 2010 which brought net proceeds 
of approximately $38.69 million into 
the Group. I am also pleased to note 
that you, our loyal shareholders have 
given the Group your trust and support 
in our rights issue in October 2010 
with 132.5% subscription. The money 
had been used to fund our working 
capital needs, capital investments and 
repayment of indebtedness. Our total 
borrowings were lower this year and 
our gearing improved from 1.43 times 
to 1.37 times at the close of FY2010. 

In March 2011, the Group further 
strengthened the cash and balance 
sheet position with the completion of 
the disposal of its vessel “Federal I” for 
a consideration of US$29.1 million. The 
enhanced liquidity would put the Group 
in a better stead to explore growth 
opportunities by selectively evaluating 
merger and acquisition opportunities  
and take on quality projects with good 
margins. 

4



5

We have demonstrated our resilience in 
weathering this challenging period. Our 
renewal is progressing well and we are 
well-poised to rebuild for the future. We 
have achieved healthy cashflow due to 
better operating effectiveness and 
capital asset divestment.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of my Board of Directors, I 
would like to take this opportunity to 
thank all our customers, suppliers, 
business associates and shareholders 
for your steadfast support and 
unwavering trust in us and not 
forgetting our dedicated staff for their 
hard work and effective contribution in 
2010. 

We look forward to your continued 
support as we strive towards realising 
our vision for the Group.

Mr Koh Kian Kiong
Executive Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
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directors
board of

To sharpen our competitiveness in these challenging times, we will 
remain focused on our vision and our business strategy, whilst keeping 
in mind  the importance of ensuring a strong financial position in the 
areas of balance sheet, cash flow management and cost control.

MR KOH KIAN KIONG 
Executive Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer

Appointed on 13 November 1999 and 
re-elected on 30 April 2009

Mr Koh Kian Kiong is the Executive 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company. He is also a member 
of the Executive Committee and 
Nominating Committee. He is one of 
the three original founders of the Group 
and has more than 30 years in the oil 
and gas industry. Mr Koh oversees the 
formulation of the Group’s corporate 
strategies and expansion plans.

1

MS MAGGIE KOH 
Executive Director

Appointed on 19 June 2000 and 
re-elected on 14 May 2010

Ms Maggie Koh is one of the Executive 
Directors of the Company. She joined 
the Group in 1993 and has more than 17 
years of working experience in the oil 
and gas industry. She is the director in 
charge of subsidiary Federal Hardware 
Engineering Co Pte Ltd and holds 

2

MR LIM JOO SUAN 
Executive Director

Appointed on 28 January 2008 and 
re-elected on 30 April 2008

Mr Lim Joo Suan was appointed an 
Executive Director of the Company 
on 28 January 2008. He will assist the 
Chief Executive Officer in driving and 
expanding the Group’s business and 
managing the daily operations of the 
Group. He has an MBA on General 
Management from the University of Hull 
in the U.K.

3

MR HENG LEE SENG 
Independent Director

Appointed on 22 August 2000 and 
re-elected on 30 April 2009

Mr Heng Lee Seng was appointed an 
Independent Director of the Company 
on 22 August 2000. He is Chairman 
of the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees, and a member of the 
Nominating Committee. Mr Heng is 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
and a member of the Remuneration 
and Nominating Committees at Sinwa 
Limited. He is currently a partner of 
Heng Lee Seng LLP and a director of 
HLS Corporate Services Pte Ltd., HLS 
Tax Advisory Services Pte Ltd, HLS Risk 
Advisory Services Pte Ltd, Corporate 
Health Advisors Pte Ltd. Mr Heng is a 
Certified Public Accountant and has 
been a practising CPA for more than 
35 years. Mr Heng is a member of CPA 
Australia, The Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants, The Chartered 
Institute of Management Accountants, 
The Chartered Institute of Secretaries 
and Administrators and Singapore 
Institute of Directors.

4

stewardship of Federal Environmental 
& Energy Pte Ltd group of companies. 
She is also a member of the Executive 
Committee and holds a Master of 
Business Administration.
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MR CHAN LAY HO 
Independent Director

Appointed on 2 May 2006 and 
re-elected on 26 April 2007

Mr Chan Lay Ho was appointed an 
Independent Director of the Company 
on 2 May 2006. He is the chairman 
of the Nominating Committee and a 
member of the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees. He is a Certified Public 
Accountant and a Fellow of The 
Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants. He has over 30 years of 
experience in the areas of accounting, 
HR matters and administration in the 
oil and gas industry in the Asia Pacific 
region and two years of experience in 
public accounting.

5 MR YEE KEE SHIAN LEON 
Independent Director

Appointed on 23 March 2010 and 
re-elected on 14 May 2010

Mr Yee Kee Shian Leon was appointed 
an Independent Director of the Company 
on 23 March 2010. He is a member of 
the Audit and Remuneration Committees. 
He is a Director and also the head of 
the Banking and Finance Department at 
Selvam LLC, a corporate law practice 
and its joint law venture, Duane Morris 
& Selvam LLP. He is experienced in 
advising investment banks, project 
companies, listed and private companies 
on complex financings, corporate 
finance, venture capital, capital 

6

markets, takeovers, cross-border 
mergers and acquisitions, corporate 
restructurings and joint ventures. 
Having been named an AsiaLaw Leading 
Lawyer in the area of Corporate 
Governance, Mr Yee also co-authored 
the “Code of Corporate Governance” 
chapter in Woon’s Corporations Law. 
He obtained his B.A. and M.A. in Law 
at Christ’s College, University of 
Cambridge.
 
Mr Yee is an Advocate & Solicitor of 
the Supreme Court of Singapore and a 
Solicitor of England and Wales.

2 31

6
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MR CLIFF TEO YEW TECK
Managing Director

Mr Cliff Teo Yew Teck is the Managing 
Director of Federal Fire Engineering Pte 
Ltd (“FFE”). He is responsible for the 
business operations and the profitability 
of FFE. He is also actively involved in 
the strategic planning and exploring of 
new business opportunities in Brunei 
Darussalam, Thailand, Indonesia and 
Malaysia. Mr Teo holds a City & Guilds 
London Electrical Engineering Practise 
Certificate. He is equipped with 30 years 
of extensive experience in the marine, 
special hazard and oil & gas fire 
protection industries. In 1981, he joined 
Thorn Security (S) Pte Ltd. as Marine 
and Offshore Division Manager until 
1992. The following year, he joined 
Kidde International (“Kidde”) Singapore 
as Application & Sales Manager. In 1993, 
he left Kidde to join the Group.

MS CHNG GEOK
Project Director

Ms Chng Geok is responsible for 
matters relating to corporate finance 
and funding activities of the Group as 
well as assisting Executive Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer in corporate 
and business structuring. She has been 
appointed as Project Director of Federal 
International (2000) Ltd in April 2010.  

MR MICHAEL TAY HANG HEE
General Manager

Mr Michael Tay Hang Hee was appointed 
in November 2002 as General Manager 
of Federal International (2000) Ltd. 
Mr Tay, who is responsible for overseeing 
the operations and driving the 
profitability of Federal’s overseas 
subsidiaries and associated companies, 

executives
key We are mindful of your expectations in us, and we hope to take the

                      Group forward with a better performance in the current financial.

MR GEORGE DENG GUAN QUN
Chief Executive Officer

Mr George Deng Guan Qun is the 
Chief Executive Officer of Federal 
International (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (“FIS”) 
and Federal Environmental & Energy 
Pte. Ltd (“FEE”) and also one of the 
founders of FIS and FEE. His main 
responsibility is to oversee the business 
operations and the development and 
expansion of the businesses of FIS and 
FEE group of companies. His role 
includes exploring new business 
opportunities and expanding the 
customer base in the China market. 
Mr Deng holds a Master in Mechanical 
Engineering from the Shanghai Jiao 
Tong University and Degree of Executive 
MBA from United Business Institutes, 
Brussels, Belgium.

Chng Geok joined the group in Dec 1995 
and brings with her more than 10 years 
of experience in the accounting 
profession. She was an Executive 
Director of the Group from January 
2005 to February 2010 and was the 
Company Secretary and Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company between 2000 
and 2009. She is a Certified Accountant 
and Fellowship Chartered Certified 
Accountant.  She holds a Bachelor 
of Business Administration from the 
National University of Singapore.
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MR RICHARD DOCHERTY
Managing Director

Mr Richard Docherty is the Managing 
Director of KVC (UK) Ltd. Mr Docherty 
joined KVC (UK) Ltd in January 2004 and 
was appointed Managing Director in 
November 2005. Richard has been in 
the Valve Industry for 36 years having 
previously had 29 years service with a 
Leading UK Valve Distribution Company. 
His Valve experience covers all sectors 
of Industry and in particular the Oil, Gas 
& Petrochemical Industries.

MS ADELINE HWEE 
Group Financial Controller

Ms Adeline Hwee is the Group Financial 
Controller of Federal International 
(2000) Ltd since her appointment in 
2009. She joined the Group in March 
2003 as Group Accountant and had 
advanced in her career. With almost 
8 years experience in commercial 
finance, she currently heads the 
finance department and oversee all 
financial matters of the Group. She is 
responsible for Group-wide financial 
and accounting functions. During her 
years with Federal Group, she has had 
hands-on experience on the day to 
day management in additional to her 
financial duties and oversees certain 
businesses in the marine logistic and 
energy and utilities business segments. 

Prior to joining Federal Group, 
Adeline started her career with a 
public accounting firm, specializing 
in assurance and advisory for various 
industries. She is a Certified Public 
Accountant in Singapore and holds a 
Bachelor of Accountancy degree from 
the Nanyang Technological University.

MR MICHAEL VOON 
Project Director

Mr Michael Voon has been appointed as 
Project Director of Alton International 
(S) Pte Ltd (“Alton International”) from 
16 January 2009. As Project Director, 
Michael heads the Engineering 
Procurement Construction Division of 
Alton International and will be able 
to draw on his multi-disciplinary 
experience of more than 29 years as a 
professional engineer in the onshore 
and offshore oil and gas industry. The 
bulk of his experience has been with 
Brunei Shell Petroleum, Brunei LNG 
plant and in the last decade with ABB, 
Haliburton, GHD, Upstream Petroleum, 
Apache Energy in Australia and HSCP in 
Singapore. His experience encompases 
fast-track greenfield and brownfield oil 
and gas projects.

MS TONG MIN LEE 
Group Legal Counsel

Ms Min Lee is the Group Legal Counsel. 
She joined Federal International (2000) 
Ltd in June 2009, and is responsible for 
the Group’s legal matters including 
advisory, negotiations, drafting, and 
overseeing the work of in-house and 
external legal counsel. Min Lee has an 
LLB from the National University of 
Singapore, and has had several years of 
practice and experience in the field of 
corporate and commercial law.

MR DON KOH
Managing Director

Mr Don Koh is the Managing Director of 
Alton International (S) Pte Ltd (“Alton”) 
since 1 January 2005. He is responsible 
for the operations of the Alton group of 
companies and the development and 
expansion of its business. Prior to his 
current position, he was Director for 
Operations at Alton from 1 March 2004. 
Don Koh started his marketing career 
as a Sales Engineer with Federal 
Hardware Engineering Co Pte Ltd in 

brings with him 15 years of working 
experience with various oil and gas 
related companies. He has also been 
appointed as the Business Development 
Director of subsidiary, Federal 
Hardware Engineering Co Pte Ltd in 
September 2008. He holds an MBA 
from the University of South Australia, 
Adelaide.

1999 and was subsequently promoted 
to Outdoor Sales Manager in 2003. 
He holds a Bachelor in Business 
Administration from the Southern 
Cross University.
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review
business

Operationally, 2010 was the year we 
consolidated our different business units 
and established strategic positioning for 

sustainable growth on many fronts.

Operationally, 2010 was the year we 
consolidated our different business 
units and established strategic 
positioning for sustainable growth on 
many fronts. As the main contractor 
and provider of procurement projects 
serving the oil & gas and petrochemical 
sectors, we continue to ensure product 
quality and timely delivery. As a service 
provider for Build Operate Own (“BOO”)/ 
Built-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) projects 
for waste water treatment services 
in Sichuan PanZhiHua Vanadium-
Titanium Industrial Park and supply of 
tap and raw water in Xinjin Chemical 
Industrial Park, Chengdu, we need to 
ensure that our practices were on par 
and in line with international safety and 
environmental standards. 

In view of the weaker market demand 
as a result of a sluggish global 
economy in 2010, Federal closed the 
year on lower revenue. Following 
the completion of the contract worth 
US$73.3 million for supply of line pipe 
with Saipem Spa (“Algerian linepipe 
project”) in 2010 for the development 
of the oil and gas reserve at Menzel 
Ledjmet East field, Algeria undertaken 
by Federal Hardware Engineering 
Co Pte Ltd, we will be gearing up our 
sales efforts to partake in tenders 
and sizeable procurement contracts, 
especially in Indonesia and China.    
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subsidiary company in United Kingdom 
for the manufacturing and supply of 
butterfly valves. 

Marine Logistics
Turnover for the Marine Logistics 
segment at $16.0 million, was 27.4% 
lower as compared to $22.1 million 
achieved in 2009. As a testament of our 
excellent and consistent performance 
in provision of time charter of Floating 
Storage and Off-loading services 
(“FSO”) by Federal I vessel, our long 
term partnership with our customer, 
Petrochina International Jabung 
Ltd. had yielded a steady revenue 
contribution since 2006. However, there 
was no major revenue contribution by 
Federal II in 2010 as it was undergoing 
dry-dock and class survey for 5 months 
during the year. Despite uncertainties 
in the suppressed market conditions of 
the marine logistics business segment, 
management is committed in its pursuit 
for a long term Floating Production 
Storage Offloading/FSO project for 
Federal II.
 
Energy & Utilities
The Energy and Utilities segment 
registered a decline of 41.4% from 
$22.2 million to $13.0 million in 
2010. This was mainly attributable to 
accounting standards which compel 
the Group to recognise revenue 
from construction services in 2009 
arising from the  capital expenditure 
incurred for the BOO waste water 
treatment plant project in PanZhiHua 
based on the minimum guarantee 
revenue granted by the government 
instead of registering income upon 
commencement of supply . This BOO 
project, together with the BOT project 
for the supply of tap and raw water in 
Xinjin Chemical Industrial Park, when 
fully operational in 2011, would then 
provide a stable base-load for the 
Energy and Utilities business segment.

We also look forward to the potential 
resumption of revenue contribution 
by our Co-Generation plant which was 
originally contracted to the supply of 

Performance By Business 
Segments 

The Group’s turnover for 2010 was
$180.1 million. The trading segment 
was the largest contributor, accounting 
for 70.7%, followed by Resources 
segment at 9.2%, Marine Logistics 
segment at 8.9%, Energy and Utilities 
business segment at 7.2%, Manufacturing/ 
Design/Research and Development at 
3.9% and the others at 0.1%.

Trading
Sales from Trading in 2010 recorded 
revenues of $127.3 million as compared 
to $174.4 million in 2009. The 27.0% 

Federal International (2000) Ltd • Annual Report 2010

decline was due to the sizeable 
contribution from Integrated Project 
Management project which was 
undertaken in 2009 and compared to 
our expectation in 2010.
 
We expect this segment will continue to 
be the key revenue driver for the Group 
in the new financial year, following the 
Algerian linepipe project which was 
completed and delivered progressively 
in 2010, on time and with quality.
 
Manufacturing/Design
In 2010, sales from Manufacturing/
Design more than tripled to $7.0 million 
from $2.2 million in 2009 due to a joint 
development project undertaken by a 
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steam and electricity to a lessee which 
went into liquidation as there is a 
renewed interest by the new bio-diesel 
plant owner for the demand of steam 
and electricity in the year ahead.

Resources
Sales from the Resources segment has 
improved threefold to $16.5 million 
in 2010 from $5.4 million in 2009. 
The year saw our entry into Resource 
segment in Indonesia in the mining 
of coal, as well as the sale of coal 
and other commodities. The financial 
performance for this business segment 
was, however, impacted by the 
inclement weather conditions during 
the year, as the production and delivery 
schedule for the coal from our own 
coal mine was affected and fell short of 
expectations. 

Performance By 
Geographical Markets
 
The bulk of our revenue in the year 
under review was derived from Italy 
accounting for 35.6%, as Federal 
Hardware Engineering Co Pte Ltd has 
successfully executed the US$73.3 
million Algerian line pipe project; 
followed by Singapore at 15.9%, China 
at 15.3%, Indonesia at 14.1%, Vietnam 
at 5.7% and the rest from global-wide. 



13

Federal International (2000) Ltd • Annual Report 2010

Vietnam:
Opportunities for Alton

Alton International (S) Pte Ltd (“Alton”) 
was awarded a US$6.0 million contract 
for the provision of project management 
and Engineering Project and 
Construction services for compact 
manifold skids in Vietnam in November 
2009. The successful project delivery 
saw its closing in 2010.  With Alton’s 
track record in Vietnam, it helps to 
fortify Alton’s market standing in 
Vietnam and create a presence in 
Vietnam for the Group to have more 
business opportunities for the year 
ahead.

Divestments

2010 continued to be a year of business 
disposals and financial consolidation for 
the Group. Federal divested its stakes 
in certain subsidiaries as part of its 
strategic intent to sharpen its business 
focus, streamline operations and raise 
funds for other projects that would 
contribute to the Group’s future growth.

In July 2010, Federal sold its entire 45% 
stake in Syntellect TeleSystems Pte Ltd 
to two individual investors for a cash 
consideration of $141,750. The disposal 
was in line with the Group’s strategy to 
consolidate and rationalise its business 
by divesting its non-core businesses. 

In March 2011, Federal’s 60% owned 
subsidiary Federal Offshore Services 
Pte Ltd completed its sale of Federal I 
vessel for a consideration of 
US$29.1 million. The proceeds 
will improve the Group’s liquidity 
by providing additional cash to the 
Group for working capital purposes 
and reduce the Group’s level of 
indebtedness in relation to the loan 
taken up for the vessel.

Although the overall market sentiments 
in 2011 seem to be positive, which may 
then translate to abundant business 
opportunities, the Group is mindful of 
market volatilities which will continue to 
impact our operating environment. The 
Group will adopt a prudent approach 
without excessive risk exposure and 
take appropriate and considered steps 
to preserve and restore the value of 
the Group.
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calendar of 

2010 NOVEMBER 
Listing and quotation of 377,194,378 
Rights Shares

events2010 JANUARY
Commencement of commercial 
operation of the first phase of the waste 
water treatment project

Awarded additional contract amounting 
to US$8.9 million for supply of linepipe 
by Saipem Spa

Disposal of 20% stake in PT Binaguna 
Adi Sejahtera

2010 JULY
Disposal of entire 45% stake in 
Syntellect Telesystems Pte Ltd

2010 MARCH
Listing and quotation of 62,964,665 
Placement Shares
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as at 31 december 2010

Federal International (2000) Ltd.

Federal Fire
Engineering Pte Ltd 

100%

Federal Capital 
Pte. Ltd. 100%

Federal 
Environmental & Energy 

Pte Ltd 65%

KVC (UK) Ltd 90%

KVC Co., Ltd 50%

Banyan Utilities 
Pte. Ltd. 70.05%

FLZ Marine Pte Ltd 
45%

Federal Hardware 
Engineering Co. 

Pte Ltd 100%

Alton International 
(S) Pte Ltd 100%

Federal Offshore 
Services Pte Ltd 60%

GV Oilfield Engineering 
Pvt. Ltd. 60%

Federal JWR 
Energy Pte Ltd 40%

Sapex International 
Pte Ltd 50%

PT Gunanusa Utama 
Fabricators 20.66%

Federal Energi 
Pte Ltd 100%

corporate structure

PT Indoenergi 
Perkasa 40%

Federal Environmetal 
Engineering

(Shanghai) Co. Ltd
100%

FEE Investment 
Management 
Consultants 

(Shanghai) Co. Ltd 
100%

Federal Environmental 
(Panzhihua) Co., Ltd 

100%

Federal 
Environmental  

(Southwest China) 
Pte Ltd 100%

Federal 
Environmental  

(Chengdu) Pte Ltd 
100%

FEE Water 
(China-PZH) Ltd 100%

Federal Water 
(Chengdu) Co., Ltd 

90%

Federal International 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd 

65%

Federal-Applied 
Industrial Services  

Co Ltd 49%

PT Fedsin Rekayasa 
Pratama 99%

PT Gasuma Federal 
Indonesia 60%

PT Mega Federal 
Energy 60%

PT Federal 
International 100%

Alton International 
(B) Sdn Bhd 33%

Alton International 
Resources Pte Ltd 

70%

Alton International 
(Thailand) Co., Ltd 

100%

KK Marine Inc. 
100%

PT Alton 
International 

Resources 100%

Eastern Jason 
Fabrication Services 

Pte Ltd  96.83%
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5 year financial highlights
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The Board is committed to continuously and consistently raising the level of corporate governance practices of the Company to 
protect the interest of shareholders and to promote investor confidence.

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices with specific reference made to each of the 
principles of the Code of Corporate Governance (“Code”) in compliance with the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited. Other than deviations which are explained in this statement, the Company has generally complied with 
the principles of the Code where relevant and practical to the Group.

Board of Directors

The Board comprises the following members:

Executive:
Mr Koh Kian Kiong (Executive Chairman & CEO)
Ms Maggie Koh 
Mr Lim Joo Suan 
Ms Chng Geok (resigned on 5 February 2010)

Non-executive and Independent:
Mr Heng Lee Seng  
Mr Chan Lay Ho
Mr Yee Kee Shian Leon (appointed on 23 March 2010)
Mr Hoon Tai Meng (resigned on 14 May 2010)

The number of Board and Board Committee meetings held in the year and the attendance of each Director, where relevant, is set 
out as follows:

   Audit Nominating Remuneration 

 Directors Board Committee Committee 

	 No.	of		 	 No.	of		 	 No.	of		 	 No.	of	
	 meetings	 Attendance		 meetings	 Attendance	 meetings	 Attendance	 meetings	 	Attendance

Mr Koh Kian Kiong 6 6 7 7 1 1 N.A.   N.A.
Ms Maggie Koh 6 6 7 7 N.A. N.A. N.A.   N.A.
Mr Lim Joo Suan 6 6 7 7 N.A. N.A. N.A.   N.A.
Mr Heng Lee Seng  6 6 7 7 1 1 2   2
Mr Chan Lay Ho 6 6 7 6 N.A. N.A. 2   2
Mr Yee Kee Shian Leon* 4 4 6 6 N.A. N.A. 1   1
Mr Hoon Tai Meng ** 2 2 3 3 1 1 1   1

*    Appointed on 23 March 2010
**  Resigned on 14 May 2010

Corporate Governance Report

Committee
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Corporate Governance Report

Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The principal functions of the Board are:

(1)  approving the Group’s policies, strategies and financial objectives of the Company and monitoring the performance of 
Management;

(2) overseeing the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, financial reporting and 
compliance;

(3) approving the nominations of Board of Directors and appointments of Key Management Executives;

(4) approving quarterly results announcements;

(5) approving annual results and financial statements;

(6) approving remuneration and HR Matters;

(7) convening of shareholders’ meetings; 

(8) approving annual budgets, major funding proposals, acquisition and disposal of investments and proposals; and

(9) assuming responsibility for corporate governance and compliance with the Companies Act and the rules and requirements 
of regulatory bodies.

To facilitate effective management, certain functions have been delegated to various Board Committees, each having its own written 
terms of reference and whose actions are reported to and monitored by the Board. With the Company Secretary’s assistance, the 
Board and Management are kept continually apprised of their compliance obligations and responsibilities arising from regulatory 
requirements and changes.

The Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”) allow Board meetings to be conducted by way of teleconferencing to facilitate 
Board participation.

The Company also has in place a budget for Directors’ training programmes. This is utilised for Directors’ participation in industry 
conferences and seminars and application to courses of instruction/training programmes in connection with their duties as Directors. 
The budget may be utilised by each Director subject to the approval of the Chairman.

The Board works closely with Management ensuring that obligations to shareholders and other stakeholders are complied with. 

The Board meets at least quarterly, and more frequently when required, to review and evaluate the Group’s operations and 
performance and to address key policy matters, where necessary. 
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Corporate Governance Report

Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance

As at year end, the Board had comprised 3 Independent Directors and 3 Executive Directors. The Board complies with the 
recommendation in the Code for at least one-third of the Board to comprise of Independent Directors.  

The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the Company’s Nominating Committee (“NC”). The NC adopts the 
Code’s definition of what constitutes an Independent Director in its review, and further ensures that no individual or group of 
individuals dominate the Board’s decision-making process.

The Non-executive Directors contribute to the Board process by monitoring and reviewing Management’s performance against 
goals and objectives. Their views and opinions provide alternative perspectives to the Group’s business and they bring independent 
judgement to bear on business activities and transactions involving conflicts of interest and other complexities. Where the need 
arises, Non-executive Directors will meet without the presence of Management.

Key information regarding the Directors is set out on pages 6 & 7 of the Annual Report. The NC is of the view that the size, 
composition, range of experience and the varied expertise of the current Board provides core competencies necessary to meet 
the Company’s needs.

Principle 3: Role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 

Mr Koh Kian Kiong is the Executive Chairman and CEO of the Company. As the founder of the Group, Mr Koh has been responsible 
for leading the Board and has assumed full executive responsibilities over the directions and operational decisions of the Group 
since 1974. 

The Board is of the view that having Mr Koh assume the roles of both Chairman and CEO has not compromised accountability and 
independent decision-making as there is a sufficient number of Independent Directors on the Board to exercise objective judgement 
on decisions. Notwithstanding that the Company has benefited from having an Executive Chairman who is knowledgeable about 
the businesses and operations of the Company, the Board is looking into the issue of CEO succession and the segregation of 
the two positions. In compliance with the Code, Mr Heng Lee Seng has been appointed Lead Independent Director to address 
shareholders’ concerns, if any.

The Chairman ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary. Members of Management who can provide additional insight 
into the matters to be discussed are invited to attend the relevant Board or Board Committee meetings.
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Principle 6: Access to Information

The Company recognizes that the flow of accurate and timely information is important for the Board to be effective in the discharge 
of its duties. Accordingly, it endeavours to meet the information needs of the Directors, such as requests for further explanations, 
briefings or informal discussions on any aspect of the Company’s operations or business issues. The Directors are provided with 
the contact details of the Company’s Key Management and Company Secretary to facilitate access to information.

The Board seeks independent professional advice as and when necessary to enable it to discharge its responsibilities effectively.  
Whether as a group or individually, Directors may seek and obtain independent professional advice to assist them in their duties, 
at the expense of the Company.  

The Company Secretary or her representative attends and prepares minutes of all Board and Board Committee meetings. She 
assists the Chairman in ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that all relevant statutes, rules and regulations, including 
requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), are complied with. She is also the primary channel 
of communication between the Company and the SGX-ST. 

The appointment and the removal of the Company Secretary is a Board matter.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee (“EC”) comprises the following Directors:

Mr Koh Kian Kiong
Ms Maggie Koh
Mr Lim Joo Suan
Ms Chng Geok (resigned on 5 February 2010) 

The EC meets regularly and performs the following functions:

(1)  Approves investment/divestment proposals within 5% of NTA;

(2)  Reviews and submits the Group’s business plans to the Board;

(3)  Establishes guidelines and approval limits for the management and operation of the Group’s businesses;

(4)  Reviews budget against performance of each business unit; and

(5)  Ensures that interested person transactions are undertaken at arm’s length and on commercial terms.

Corporate Governance Report
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Nominating Committee
Principle 4: Board Membership
Principle 5: Board Performance

The members of the Company’s NC are:

Mr Chan Lay Ho (Chairman)
Mr Heng Lee Seng 
Mr Koh Kian Kiong

A majority of the NC members, including the Chairman of the NC, are Non-executive and Independent Directors and are not related 
to any substantial shareholder of the Company. 

Under its terms of reference, the NC is responsible for reviewing the Board’s composition and effectiveness and determining 
whether Directors possess the requisite qualifications and expertise and whether the independence of Directors is compromised. 

The duties of the NC are as follows:

(1) To review annually the independence of each Director with reference to the criteria set out in the Code;

(2)  To review all nominations for new appointments and re-appointments of Directors and put forth their recommendations for 
approval by the Board; and

(3)  To determine whether a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director of the Company, 
particularly, when a Director has multiple Board representations.

New Directors undergo an orientation programme whereby they are briefed by the Company Secretary on their obligations as 
Directors, as well as the Group’s corporate governance practices, and relevant statutory and regulatory compliance issues, as 
appropriate. They are also briefed by Management on the Group’s industry and business operations. 

The NC has reviewed the independence of each Director for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 in accordance with the 
Code’s definition of independence and is satisfied that more than one-third of the Board comprises Independent Directors.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles, each Director has to retire at least once every three years by rotation and all 
newly-appointed Directors have to retire at the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) following their appointments. The retiring 
Directors may offer themselves for re-election. For the year in review, Mr Heng Lee Seng and Mr Chan Lay Ho are retiring by 
rotation in accordance with Article 91 of the Company’s Articles.

The NC has recommended the re-nomination of Mr Heng Lee Seng and Mr Chan Lay Ho for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. 

The NC has in place a Board performance evaluation process where the effectiveness of the Board as a whole is assessed. This 
annual evaluation exercise provides an opportunity to obtain constructive feedback from each Director on whether the Board’s 
procedures and processes allowed him to discharge his duties effectively and to propose changes which may be made to enhance 
Board effectiveness as a whole.

Corporate Governance Report
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Audit Committee
Principle 10: Accountability and Audit
Principle 11: Audit Committee
Principle 12: Internal Controls
Principle 13: Internal Audit

The members of the Company’s Audit Committee (“AC”) are:

Mr Heng Lee Seng (Chairman)
Mr Chan Lay Ho
Mr Yee Kee Shian Leon (appointed on 23 March 2010)
Mr Hoon Tai Meng (resigned on 14 May 2010)

The AC comprises entirely of Non-executive and Independent Directors. A majority of the AC members are Certified 
Public Accountants and are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and capable of exercising sound and 
independent judgement.

The key responsibilities of the AC include the following:

(1)  to review the scope, audit plans, results and effectiveness of the external and internal auditors;

(2)  to review interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST;

(3)  to review and recommend to the Board the release of the quarterly, half year and full year financial statements;

(4)  to review and recommend the re-appointment of the external auditors, and approving the remuneration of the external auditors;

(5)  to review the independence of the external auditors annually; and

(6)  to review all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to determine if the provision of such services would affect  
 the independence of the external auditors.

The AC is empowered to investigate any matter relating to the Group’s accounting, auditing, internal controls and financial practices 
brought to its attention, with full access to records, resources and personnel, to enable it to discharge its functions properly. It has 
full access to and the co-operation of Management, including the internal auditors, and has full discretion to invite any Director 
and executive officer to attend its meetings.

The Group has an Internal Audit department which reports primarily to the Chairman of the AC. The AC ensures that the team is 
adequately resourced and has the appropriate standing within the Group. It also reviews and approves the annual internal audit 
plan proposed by the Internal Audit department. 

Corporate Governance Report
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The Group also out-sourced certain internal audit projects to BDO LLP (“BDO”) to strengthen the internal audit function to meet 
the growing global emphasis on corporate governance, compliance and risk assessment. The Internal Audit department and BDO, 
like the external auditors, report independently their findings and recommendations to the AC. 

In performing its functions, the AC reviews the overall scope of both internal and external audits, and the assistance given 
by Management to the auditors. The AC also meets with the internal and external auditors annually, without the presence of 
Management to discuss the results of their respective audit findings and their evaluation of the Group’s system of accounting and 
internal controls.

The AC has reviewed the Group’s risk management policies and, based on the audit reports and management controls in place 
except for certain areas which improvement is needed, is satisfied that there are adequate internal controls in the Group.

The AC has adopted a whistle-blowing programme to encourage and to provide a channel for Group employees to report and to 
raise, in good faith and in confidence, their concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. 

The AC, together with the Board are satisfied that the appointment of different auditors for its subsidiaries and/or significant 
associated companies would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of audit of the Company. 

The AC is also satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to the Board the 
re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s external auditors at the forthcoming AGM.

Remuneration Committee
Principle 7: Procedures for Development of Remuneration Policies
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure of Remuneration

The members of the Company’s Remuneration Committee (“RC”) are:

Mr Heng Lee Seng (Chairman)
Mr Chan Lay Ho
Mr Yee Kee Shian Leon (appointed on 23 March 2010)
Mr Hoon Tai Meng (resigned on 14 May 2010)

The RC comprises entirely of Independent Directors.

The RC has access to external professional advice on remuneration matters, if required.

Corporate Governance Report



24

Federal International (2000) Ltd • Annual Report 2010

The RC, through a competitive and appropriately structured framework of remuneration, aims to motivate and retain executives 
and ensure that the Company is able to attract talents in the market in order to maximise shareholder value. In consultation with 
the Chairman of the Board, the RC will:

(1)  recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for Executive Directors and Key Management Executives of the  
 Company that is aligned with the interests of shareholders and ensure that such remuneration is appropriate to attract,  
 motivate and retain the right talents for the Group; 

(2)  review and recommend to the Board for their endorsement the annual remuneration packages for Executive Directors, Key  
 Management Executives and employees related to Directors or, controlling shareholders of the Group, which include a  
 performance-related variable bonus component; and

(3)  decide on the early termination compensation of Directors.

The Company adopts a remuneration policy for Executive Directors and Key Management Executives comprising a fixed component 
and a variable component. The fixed component is in the form of a base salary and fixed bonus. The variable component is in 
the form of profit-sharing or a variable bonus that is linked to the performance of the Company and the individual. The Executive 
Directors’ service contracts are renewed annually.

As part of its review, the RC covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited, to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowance, 
bonuses and benefits-in-kind.  

The RC ensures that the remuneration packages of employees related to Executive Directors and controlling shareholders of the 
Group are in line with the Group’s staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their respective job scopes and levels of 
responsibilities.

There is one Key Management Executive of the Group who is an immediate family member of the CEO and whose remuneration 
exceeds S$150,000 in 2010. 

Non-executive Directors’ fees are set in accordance with a remuneration framework comprising a basic fee and increment fixed 
fee for the level of responsibilities such as chairing Board Committees. The Non-executive Directors’ fees proposed are subject 
to shareholders’ approval at the AGM.

The Company does not have a long-term incentive or share option scheme in place.

Corporate Governance Report
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The following information relates to the remuneration of Directors for the year ended 31 December 2010:

 Directors of the Company Fees Salary Bonus Other Benefits Total
  % % % % %
 

 S$250,000 to S$499,999     
 Mr Koh Kian Kiong -  97% -   3% 100%
 Mr Lim Joo Suan -   89%    6%   5% 100%
     
 Less than S$250,000     
 Ms Maggie Koh -  92% -   8% 100%
 Ms Chng Geok* -   80% -     20% 100%
 Mr Heng Lee Seng 100% - -  - 100%
 Mr Chan Lay Ho 100% - - - 100%
 Mr Yee Kee Shian Leon**  100% - - - 100%
 Mr Hoon Tai Meng*** - - -  - -

 *     Resigned on 5 February 2010
 **    Appointed on 23 March 2010
 ***  Resigned on 14 May 2010

Key Executives’ Remuneration

The remuneration of the Group’s top 5 key executives takes into account the remuneration and employment conditions within the 
industry and is performance-related. The Board is of the opinion that it is not in the best interest of the group to disclose the names 
and exact remuneration of key executives given the competitiveness of the industry associated with attracting and retaining key 
talent, as well as the sensitivity and confidentiality reasons attached to remuneration matters.

  Number of Key
Remuneration Bands  Management Executives

S$500,000 and above -
S$250,000 to S$499,999 1
Below S$250,000 8
Total 9

There is one Key Management Executive of the Group who is an immediate family member of the CEO and whose remuneration 
exceeds S$150,000 in 2010.

Corporate Governance Report
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Communication with Shareholders
Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders
Principle 15: Effective Shareholders’ Participation

The Board is mindful of its obligation to provide timely disclosure of material information. The Board is accountable to the 
shareholders while Management is accountable to the Board.

The Company does not practise selective disclosure. Announcements, including quarterly, half-year and full-year results, are 
released through SGXNET and news releases. The Company has engaged the services of a public relations company to facilitate 
the dissemination of information to investors and the public since becoming publicly listed in 2000. All shareholders of the Company 
receive a copy of the Annual Report of the Company and the Group.  

At general meetings, shareholders are given the opportunity to express their views and ask questions regarding the Group and 
its businesses. 

Resolutions on each distinct issue are tabled separately at general meetings.

The Chairmen of the AC, NC and RC are available to address questions at the Company’s AGMs. The Company’s external auditors 
are also present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries from shareholders.

Dealings in Securities

The Company has adopted a policy for securities transactions which provide guidance to its Directors and officers of the Group. 
Under this policy, Directors and officers are not permitted to deal in the Company’s securities while in possession of price-sensitive 
information and for the periods commencing 2 weeks before the release of quarterly results and 1 month before the release of 
full-year results and are not expected to deal with the securities on short-term considerations.  

Interested Person Transactions

The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transactions with interested persons and has set out the procedures 
for review and approval of the Company’s interested person transactions. All interested person transactions are subject to review 
by the AC.

The Company confirms that the aggregate value of all interested person transactions during the financial year under review is less 
than S$100,000.   

Material Contracts

No material contracts were entered between the Company and any of its subsidiaries with any Director or controlling shareholder 
during the financial year ended 31 December 2010, except as disclosed in the notes to the Financial Statements (Note 51(a)). 

Corporate Governance Report
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Enterprise Risk Management Steering Committee

The Company had on January 2010 established an Enterprise Risk Management Steering Committee (“ERM Steering Committee”) 
to provide an appropriate formal framework to monitor risks and threats faced by the Company and its Group subsidiaries. The 
ERM Steering Committee comprises members of the EC and certain Key Management Executives (e.g. internal auditor, internal 
legal counsel, business development director, finance personnel). The implementation of ERM is still at the initial phase.

The ERM Steering Committee has the authority of the Board to investigate any aspect of the Company or of any of its controlled 
entities. The ERM Steering Committee has explicit access to Key Management Executives and other employees of the Company, 
in order to carry out its functions and duties adequately. 

The terms of reference of the ERM Steering Committee had been reviewed and adopted by the Board.

Enterprise Risk Management Programme 

The AC provides oversight to the risk management procedures of the Company and supported by a Risk Management Committee 
chaired by a nominated Chief Risk Officer. The Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) comprises key management personnel 
including Head of Finance, Legal, Operations and other executive directors of the Company. 

The purpose of risk management is to identify risks that may have significant impact on the organisation, implement countermeasures 
or warning systems for the detection of risks at the onset. Risk management procedures are designed to facilitate regular and 
timely reporting of key risk events and to call to action specific action plans where necessary.

The Company has completed the pilot phase of an enterprise-wide risk management programme which focuses on development 
of a robust risk reporting structure, a structured risk management process and a risk monitoring system that requires key projects, 
investments or events to be subjected to an ongoing risk assessment from inception stages.

Risk Reporting Structure

The ERM Steering Committee is scheduled to submit quarterly reports to the AC on the key risks being managed by the Company 
and on trends of risk indicators. The following chart provides an overview of the risk reporting structure:

Audit Committee

Chief Risk Officer/ERM
Steering Committee

Nominated Risk Officer Nominated Risk OfficerNominated Risk Officer

Corporate Governance Report
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Risk Management Process

The Company has adopted the following risk management framework:

Risk Identification 

Risk questionnaires are disseminated to key personnel across the Group to obtain 
their inputs on the key risks affecting their areas of responsibilities. The risks are further 
consolidated by the ERM Steering Committee and recorded as part of the Group risk 
register.  

Risk Assessment

A uniform grading methodology is used to provide a quantitative assessment of the identified risks by the risk respondents. The 
risk register contains the countermeasures to identified risks and the person responsible for monitoring the risk. Where applicable, 
action plans are developed to cover deficiencies in the current risks monitoring system.

Risk Mitigation

The countermeasures to risks identified by the programme are documented and risks accepted as part of inherent business risks 
are subject to review and acceptance process. 

An important part of the Company’s business is in large scale overseas projects involving different fields of expertise. As part 
of internal risk reporting procedures, all projects that exceed an internally set limit will have to submit detailed risks assessment 
reports to the Executive Directors before the Company can commit to the projects.

Risk Monitoring

The ERM Steering Committee is scheduled to meet quarterly and also whenever the need arises to discuss risk 
management-related issues. They provide the first line of monitoring risks that could have an impact on the Company. In addition, 
the risk reports will be mapped to the internal audit plan to ensure that applicable risks are covered and assessed in the course 
of internal audits conducted during the year. 

Indentify
Risk

Monitor
Risk

Assess
Risk

Mitigate
Risk
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of Federal 
International (2000) Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the balance sheet and statement of 
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:-

Koh Kian Kiong
Maggie Koh
Lim Joo Suan
Heng Lee Seng
Chan Lay Ho
Leon Yee (Appointed on 23 March 2010)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Except as described in the paragraph below, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company 
a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire 
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’ shareholdings 
required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in shares of the Company and 
related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated below:

 Direct interest Deemed interest
 At At  At At
Name of directors 1.1.2010 31.12.2010   1.1.2010 31.12.2010

Ordinary shares of the Company              
Koh Kian Kiong 39,535,294 67,209,999  41,064,704 69,809,996
Maggie Koh 556,507 946,061  –      –     
Heng Lee Seng –      –       114,723 195,029
Chan Lay Ho –      –       100,000 100,000

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 
21 January 2011.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, share options, 
warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning, or at the end of the financial year.
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Directors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company 
has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation 
with the director, or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial 
financial interest.

Options

No share option has been granted at the date of this report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50. The 
functions performed are detailed in the Corporate Governance Report, set out in the Annual Report of the Company.

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditors.

On behalf of the board of directors:

Koh Kian Kiong
Director

Lim Joo Suan
Director

Singapore
8 April 2011
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Statement by Directors

We, Koh Kian Kiong and Lim Joo Suan, being two of the directors of Federal International (2000) Ltd, do hereby state that, in the 
opinion of the directors:

(i) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity, and consolidated cash flow statement together with the notes thereto are drawn up so 
as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010 and the 
results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the 
financial year ended on that date, and

(ii) at the date of this statement, subject to the continuing support of the Group’s lenders and the generation of positive cash 
flow from the Group’s and the Company’s business, as set out in Note 2 to the financial statements, there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the board of directors:

Koh Kian Kiong
Director

Lim Joo Suan
Director

Singapore
8 April 2011
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the members of Federal International (2000) Ltd

Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Federal International (2000) Ltd (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 35 to 150 which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the 
Company as at 31 December 2010, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the consolidated 
income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for the 
financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising 
and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as 
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability 
of assets.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of 
the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010 and the results, 
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the members of Federal International (2000) Ltd (cont’d)

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements. The Group incurred a net loss of 
$60,092,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2010. The Group has also breached certain thresholds set forth in 
its financial covenants in relation to term loans of $10,396,000 extended by a bank (Note 30). The Group has subsequently 
obtained a letter of waiver from the bank which granted waiver to the breaches as of 31 December 2010 and indulgence to 
30 April 2012. As disclosed in Note 52, the Group sold its vessel, Federal I in March 2011 to raise cash of approximately 
$23,171,000. Notwithstanding these developments, the Group needs to generate positive cash flows from its operations to 
enable it to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due and to also meet the financial covenants to ensure the continued 
availability of the banking facilities offered by the banks. 

These factors indicate the existence of an uncertainty which may cast doubt about the Group’s and the Company’s ability to 
continue as going concerns. The ability of the Group and the Company to continue as going concerns and to meet their liabilities 
as and when they fall due are dependent on continuing support of the Group’s lenders and the generation of positive cash flows 
from the Group’s operations as set out in Note 2 to the financial statements.  
 
If the Group and the Company are unable to continue in operational existence, the Group and the Company may be unable to 
discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business and, adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that 
assets may need to be realised other than in the normal course of business and at amounts which could differ significantly from 
the amounts at which they are currently recorded in the balance sheets. In addition, the Group and the Company may have 
to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities. No such adjustments have been made to these 
financial statements. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 
companies incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants
Singapore
8 April 2011
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Balance Sheets 
as at 31 December 2010

    Group   Company
 Note 2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000   
   (Restated)   (Restated)

Non-current assets         
Property, plant and equipment  6 46,426 95,295 145,348 21 30
Investment in subsidiary companies  7 – – – 73,149 60,209
Investment in associated companies  8 11,532 11,207 11,066 8,223 8,422
Intangible assets  9 1,086 1,128 1,172 – –
Other assets 10 10,000 10,000 846 – –
Other investments 11 20 20 20 – –
Trade receivables 12 – 10,378 – – –
Other receivables 13 2,345 2,810 1 – –
Financial and lease receivables 14 28,055 29,172 21,231 – –
Deferred tax assets 15 323 196 602 31 46
  99,787 160,206 180,286 81,424 68,707
         
Current assets         
Inventories 16 35,081 39,558 44,483 – –
Trade receivables 17 30,236 40,445 71,824 – –
Other receivables 18 17,266 59,407 1,852 63 71
Gross amount due from customer for
   construction work-in-progress 25 257 287 – – –
Advance payment to suppliers  4,021 21,414 16,672 – –
Prepayments  525 1,362 3,795 10 70
Deposits  765 879 431 4 4
Deferred expenditure 19 – 46 6,032 – –
Financial and lease receivables 14 3,761 348 726 – –
Amounts due from subsidiary companies 20 – – – 18,704 49,752
Amounts due from associated companies 21 4,080 6,566 5,064 1,433 2,883
Amounts due from related parties 22 2,170 2,206 17,212 – –
Fixed deposits 43 15,201 402 1,144 10,601 –
Cash and bank balances 43 11,134 14,314 6,737 6,869 387
  124,497 187,234 175,972 37,684 53,167
Assets held for sale
   (include disposal group) 23 36,515 12,992 – – –
  161,012 200,226 175,972 37,684 53,167
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   Group   Company
 Note 2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000   
   (Restated)  (Restated)

Current liabilities         
Trade payables 24 21,968 26,790 19,111 – 153
Other payables 24 22,757 26,315 9,698 2,187 2,490
Advance payment from customers  2,950 16,066 21,101 – –
Gross amount due to customers for
   construction work-in-progress 25 – 4,021 – – –
Deferred revenue  389 50 15 – –
Amounts due to subsidiary companies 26 – – – 3,731 941
Amounts due to associated companies 27 125 78 228 1 –
Amounts due to related parties 28 2,162 2,296 2,467 – –
Amounts due to bankers 29 21,622 41,192 66,884 – –
Term loans 30 58,570 80,485 35,473 – 3,483
Hire purchase creditors 31 2,024 2,521 1,672 – –
Derivative financial instruments  – – 8,830 – –
Provision for taxation  2,106 4,136 4,902 672 1,589
  134,673 203,950 170,381 6,591 8,656
Liabilities directly associated with disposal
   group classified as held for sale 23 3,347 4,081 – – –
  138,020 208,031 170,381 6,591 8,656
         
Net current assets/(liabilities)  22,992 (7,805) 5,591 31,093 44,511
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Balance Sheets 
as at 31 December 2010

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

   Group   Company
 Note 2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000   
   (Restated)  (Restated) 

Non-current liabilities         
Term loans 30 30,445 36,399 61,774 – –
Hire purchase creditors 31 373 2,315 2,947 – –
Provision for post employment benefits 32 19 17 81 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 15 1,839 2,077 220 – –
  32,676 40,808 65,022 – –
                    
Net assets  90,103 111,593 120,855 112,517 113,218
      
Equity attributable to owners of
   the parent         
Share capital 33 133,624 94,929 79,208 133,624 94,929
Foreign currency translation reserve 34 (2,632) (2,399) (1,133) – –
Capital reserve 35 2,778 2,775 2,773 – –
Revaluation reserve 36 1,030 1,030 1,030 – –
Other reserves 37 263 211 (352) – –
Revenue reserve  (41,016) 13,507 27,768 (21,107) 18,289
                     
  94,047 110,053 109,294 112,517 113,218
Non-controlling interests  (3,944) 1,540 11,561 – –
                     
Total equity  90,103 111,593 120,855 112,517 113,218
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Consolidated Income Statement 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

 Note 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000   
   (Restated)

Revenue 38 180,071 226,484
Cost of sales  (155,181) (181,182)
Gross profit  24,890 45,302
Other income 39 2,191 12,914
Selling and distribution costs 39 (37,799) (36,738)
Administrative and general costs 39 (34,962) (31,399)
Other operating expenses 39 (9,582) –
Finance costs 39 (6,316) (8,345)
Share of results of associated companies  1,425 1,434

Loss before tax   (60,153) (16,832)
Income tax credit/(expense) 41 61 (3,326)

Loss net of tax  (60,092) (20,158)

Attributable to :
Owners of the parent  (54,511) (12,124) 
Non-controlling interests  (5,581) (8,034)

  (60,092) (20,158)

Loss per share attributable to owners
   of the parent (cents per share) 42    
   Basic  (9.30) (2.88)
   Diluted  (9.30) (2.88)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000      
    (Restated)

    
Loss net of tax
  (60,092) (20,158)     
Other comprehensive income:     
     
Foreign currency translation  (404) (1,639)    

Other comprehensive income for the financial year, net of tax  (404) (1,639)  

Total comprehensive income for the financial year  (60,496) (21,797)     

Total comprehensive income attributable to:     
     
Owners of the parent  (54,744) (13,390)
     
Non-controlling interests  (5,752) (8,407)

  (60,496) (21,797)     

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

 Attributable to the owners of the parent  

   Foreign
   currency
 Share  translation Capital Revaluation Other  Non- 
 capital Revenue reserve reserve reserve reserves Total controlling Total  
Group (Note 33) reserve (Note 34) (Note 35) (Note 36) (Note 37) reserves interests equity
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 2009 79,208  27,768  (1,133)  2,773  1,030  (352)  30,086  11,561  120,855

         

Loss net of tax (previously reported)  –  (13,211)  –  –  –  352  (12,859)  (8,430)  (21,289)

Prior year adjustments  –  735  –  –  –  –  735  396  1,131

Other comprehensive income

   for the financial year  –  –  (1,266)  –  –  –  (1,266)  (373)  (1,639)  

         

Total comprehensive income

   for the financial year (restated)  –  (12,476)  (1,266)  –  –  352  (13,390)  (8,407)  (21,797)

Share of reserves of associated

   companies  –  –  –  2  –  –  2  –  2

Issuance of rights shares  15,101  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  15,101

Shares issued in lieu of dividends

   (Note 44)  620  (620)  –  –  –  –  (620)  –  –

Dividends on ordinary shares

   (Note 44)  –  (954)  –  –  –  –  (954)  –  (954)

Disposal of subsidiary company

   (Note 43)  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (1,473)  (1,473)

Dividends of subsidiary companies

   paid to non-controlling interests  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (544)  (544)

Capital contribution from

   non-controlling interests  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  403  403

Transfer to statutory reserve fund  –  (211)  –  –  –  211  –  –  –

At 31 December 2009 (restated)  94,929  13,507  (2,399 )  2,775  1,030  211  15,124  1,540  111,593
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Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

 Attributable to the owners of the parent  

   Foreign
   currency
 Share  translation Capital Revaluation Other  Non- 
 capital Revenue reserve reserve reserve reserves Total controlling Total  
Group (Note 33) reserve (Note 34) (Note 35) (Note 36) (Note 37) reserves interests equity 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

         
At 1 January 2010  94,929  13,507  (2,399)  2,775  1,030  211  15,124  1,540  111,593

Loss net of tax  –  (54,511)  –  –  –  –  (54,511)  (5,581)  (60,092)

Other comprehensive income

   for the financial year  –  –  (233)  –  –  –  (233)  (171)  (404)

Total comprehensive income

   for the financial year  –  (54,511)  (233)  –  –  –  (54,744)  (5,752)  (60,496)

Share of reserves of associated

   companies  –  –  –  3  –  –  3  –  3

Issuance of ordinary shares  9,001  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  9,001

Issuance of rights shares  29,694  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  29,694

Dividends of subsidiary companies

   paid to non-controlling interests  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  329  329

Capital contribution from

   non-controlling interests  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –

Transfer to statutory reserve fund  –  (12)  –  –  –  12  –  –  –

Acquisition of interest in subsidiary

   company from non-controlling interest  –  –  –  –  –  40  40  (61)  (21)

At 31 December 2010  133,624  (41,016)  (2,632)  2,778  1,030  263  (39,577)  (3,944)  90,103
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Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

 Share Revenue Total
 capital reserve equity 
Company (Note 33) 
 $’000 $’000 $’000

   
At 1 January 2009  79,208  22,514  101,722
Loss net of tax  –  (2,651)  (2,651)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year  –  (2,651)  (2,651)
Issuance of rights shares  15,101  –  15,101
Shares issued in lieu of dividends (Note 44)  620  (620)  –
Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 44)  –  (954)  (954)
At 31 December 2009  94,929  18,289  113,218

At 1 January 2010  94,929  18,289  113,218
Loss net of tax  –  (39,396)  (39,396)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year  –  (39,396)  (39,396)
Issuance of ordinary shares  38,695  –  38,695
At 31 December 2010  133,624  (21,107)  112,517

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

  2010 2009
  $’000  $’000    
    (Restated)

   
Cash flows from operating activities:   
Loss before tax  (60,153)  (16,832)
Adjustments for :
   Amortisation of intangible assets  38  55
   Amortisation of other assets  –  954
   Amortisation of deferred expenditure  –  1,073
   Write off of investment in an associated company  51  36
   Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  6,953  9,853
   Property, plant and equipment written off  –  2
   Loss on disposal of investment in a subsidiary company  –  1,905
   Gain on fair value adjustment of forward currency contracts
      and interest rate swap  –  (1,433)
   Gain on disposal of investment in an associated company  (187)  –
   Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  –  (12,057)
   Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  11,898  2,809
   Impairment loss on other asset  –  11,902
   Impairment loss on recoverable  2,592  –
   Interest income  (895)  (1,174)
   Interest expense  6,316  8,345
   Impairment loss on doubtful receivables  30,147  3,830
   Bad debts written off  401  11,152
   Allowance for/(reversal of) obsolete inventories  945  (270)
   Share of results of associated companies  (1,425)  (1,434)
   Gain on liquidation in investment in associated companies  (32)  –
   Write off of deferred expenditure  46  81

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital  (3,305)  18,797
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

     
  2010 2009
  $’000  $’000    
    (Restated)

   
Decrease in inventories  3,532  5,195
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables  (2,651)  5,515
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables  36,451  (60,733)
Increase in financial and lease receivables  (2,296)  (29,464)
Decrease/(increase) in advance payment to suppliers  14,801  (5,725)
Decrease in prepayments  897  1,682
Decrease/(increase) in deposits  114  (448)
Decrease in deferred expenditure  -  3,864
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from associated companies  1,606  (963)
Decrease in amounts due from related parties  93  4,087
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables  (5,037)  10,406
(Decrease)/increase in gross amount due from/to customer for
   construction work-in-progress  (3,991)  3,734
(Decrease)/increase in other payables  (4,069)  29,607
Decrease in advance payment from customers  (13,116)  (5,036)
Decrease in trust receipts and bills payable  (16,921)  (26,097)
Increase in deferred revenue  339  35
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to associated companies  47  (150)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to related parties  (134)  1,122
(Decrease)/increase in provision for post employment benefits  (2)  12

Cash flows from/(used in) operations  6,358 (44,560)
Income taxes paid  (2,206)  (1,490)
Interest received  648  602
Interest paid  (6,316)  (7,826)

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (1,516)  (53,274)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

     
  2010 2009
  $’000  $’000    
    (Restated)

   
Cash flows from investing activities:  
Dividends received from an associated company  23  26
Proceeds from disposal of an associated company  447  –
Dividends of subsidiary companies paid to non-controlling interests  –  (544)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (302)  (5,127)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  27  39,733
Net cash and cash equivalent from disposal of a subsidiary
   company (Note 43) –  787
Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiary company
   from non-controlling interest  (21)  –

Net cash flows from investing activities  174  34,875

Cash flows from financing activities:
Dividends paid on ordinary shares  –  (954)
Proceeds from secured bank overdrafts  –  100
Repayment of secured bank overdrafts  (1,107)  (468)
Net proceeds from issuance of shares  38,695  15,101
Repayment of hire obligations under purchase  (2,539)  (2,220)
Proceeds from term loans  29,604  44,566
Repayment of term loans  (54,083)  (32,324)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests  329  403
Increase in pledged deposits  (4,568)  –

Net cash flows from financing activities  6,331  24,204

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  3,602  284
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  4,989  5,805
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  10,193  4,104

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December (Note 43)  18,784  10,193
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010

1. Corporate information

 Federal International (2000) Ltd (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore and 
is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST).

 The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 47 Genting Road, Singapore 349489.

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are set out 
in Note 5 to the financial statements.

2. Going concern assumption

 The Group incurred a loss of $60,092,000 (2009: $20,158,000) net of tax for the financial year ended 31 December 2010. 
The Group has breached certain thresholds set forth in its financial covenants in relation to term loans of $10,396,000 
(2009: $34,824,000) extended by a bank (Note 30). The Group has, as at the date of this report, obtained a letter of waiver 
from the bank in relation to the breaches as of 31 December 2010 and indulgence to 30 April 2012. Notwithstanding the 
waiver, the Group needs to generate positive cash flows from its operations to enable it to meet its liabilities as and when 
they fall due and to also meet the financial covenants to ensure the continued availability of the banking facilities offered by 
the banks.

 These factors indicate the existence of an uncertainty which may cast doubt about the Group’s and the Company’s abilities 
to continue as going concerns. The ability of the Group and the Company to continue as going concerns and to meet their 
liabilities as and when they fall due are dependent on continuing support of the Group’s lenders and the generation of positive 
cash flows from the Group’s operations.

 The sale of a vessel, Federal I in March 2011 for a gross consideration of approximately $37,641,000 (US$29,100,000) has 
to-date strengthened the Group’s cash position and balance sheet by providing additional cash of approximately $23,171,000 
(US$17,601,000), after deducting related expenditure and loans, for working capital purpose as disclosed in Note 52. The 
sale has resulted in an estimated gain of $5,363,000 (US$4,074,000). Management has determined that there is adequate 
liquidity to finance the Group’s working capital and financing activities going forward.

 These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern assumption. If the Group and the Company are unable 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, the Group and the Company may be unable to discharge 
their liabilities in the normal course of business and adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that assets 
may need to be realised other than in the normal course of business and at amounts which could differ significantly from 
the amounts at which they are currently recorded in the balance sheets. In addition, the Group and the Company may have 
to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively. No such adjustments have been 
made to these financial statements.



Federal International (2000) Ltd • Annual Report 2010

47

Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

3.1 Basis of preparation

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company 
have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

 The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (“SGD” or “$”) and all values in the tables are rounded to the 
nearest thousand ($’000) except as indicated otherwise.

3.2 Changes in accounting policies

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the current financial year, 
the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards and Interpretations of FRS (INT FRS) that are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 and the adoption of INT FRS 112 Service Concession Arrangements as 
disclosed in Note 14. The adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance 
or position of the Group and the Company except as disclosed below:

 FRS 103 Business Combinations (revised) and FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised)

 The revised FRS 103 Business Combinations and FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements are applicable 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. As of 1 January 2010, the Group adopted both revised standards at 
the same time in accordance with their transitional provisions.

 FRS 103 Business Combinations (revised)

 The revised FRS 103 introduces a number of changes to the accounting for business combinations that will impact the 
amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results. 
Changes in significant accounting policies resulting from the adoption of the revised FRS 103 include:

 - Transaction costs would no longer be capitalised as part of the cost of acquisition but will be expensed immediately;
 
 - Consideration contingent on future events are recognised at fair value on the acquisition date and any changes in  

 the amount of consideration to be paid will no longer be adjusted against goodwill but recognised in profit or loss;
 
 - The Group elects for each acquisition of a business, to measure non-controlling interest at fair value, or at the 

 non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, and this impacts the amount of  
 goodwill recognised; and

 
 - When a business is acquired in stages, the previously held equity interests in the acquiree is remeasured to fair  

 value at the acquisition date with any corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss, and this impacts the  
 amount of goodwill recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.2 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)
 
 FRS 103 Business Combinations (revised) (cont’d)

 According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS 103 has been applied prospectively. Assets and liabilities that arose 
from business combinations whose acquisition dates are before 1 January 2010 are not adjusted. The changes will affect  
future acquisitions.

 FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised)

 Changes in significant accounting policies resulting from the adoption of the revised FRS 27 include:
 - A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary company that does not result in a loss of control is accounted  

 for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain  
 or loss recognised in profit or loss;

 - Losses incurred by a subsidiary company are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if the losses exceed the  
 non-controlling interest in the subsidiary company’s equity; and

 -  When control over a subsidiary company is lost, any interest retained is measured at fair value with the corresponding  
 gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

  According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS 27 has been applied prospectively, and does not impact  
 the Group’s consolidated financial statements in respect of transactions with non-controlling interests, attribution  
 of losses to non-controlling interests and disposal of subsidiary companies before 1 January 2010. The changes  
 affect transactions with non-controlling interests.

3.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

 The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective:
   Effective for annual
   periods beginning
   on or after

 FRS 12  Amendments to FRS 12 Deferred Tax – Recovery 1 January 2012
     of Underlying Assets 
 FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Revised)  1 January 2011
 FRS 32  Amendments to Financial Instruments: Presentation 1 February 2010
     – Amendment relating to Classification of Rights
     Issues 
 FRS 107  Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosure – Transfers of 1 July 2011
     Financial Assets 
 INT FRS 114  FRS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 1 January 2011
     Minimum Funding Requirements and their
     Interaction – Amendments relating to Prepayments
     of a Minimum Funding Requirements 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)
        
     Effective for annual
    periods beginning
    on or after 

  
 INT FRS 115  Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate  1 January 2011
 INT FRS 119 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
     Instruments  1 July 2010
         – Improvements to FRSs issued in 2010
  – Amendments to FRS 101 First-time Adopting of
       Financial Reporting Standards  1 January 2011
  – Amendments to FRS 103 Business Combinations  1 July 2010
  – Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments:
       Disclosures  1 January 2011
  – Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial
       Statements  1 January 2011
  – Amendments to FRS 34 Interim Financial
       Reporting  1 January 2011
  – Amendments to FRS 113 Customer Loyalty
       Programmes  1 January 2011

 Except for the revised FRS 24, the directors expect that the adoption of the other standards and interpretations above will 
have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application. The nature of the impending changes 
in accounting policy on adoption of the revised FRS 24 is described below.

 Revised FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures

 The revised FRS 24 clarifies the definition of a related party to simplify the identification of such relationships and to eliminate 
inconsistencies in its application. The revised FRS 24 expands the definition of a related party and would treat two entities 
as related to each other whenever a person (or a close member of that person’s family) or a third party has control or joint 
control over the entity, or has significant influence over the entity. The revised standard also introduces a partial exemption 
of disclosure requirements for government-related entities. The Group is currently determining the impact of the changes 
to the definition of a related party has on the disclosure of related party transaction. As this is a disclosure standard, it will 
have no impact on the financial position or financial performance of the Group when implemented in 2011.
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3.4 Foreign currency 

 The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also the Company’s functional 
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of 
each entity are measured using that functional currency.

 (a) Transactions and balances
 
  Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its  

 subsidiary companies and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates  
 approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies  
 are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are  
 measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of  
 the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the  
 exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the end of  
 the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that  
 form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, which are recognised initially in other comprehensive  
 income and accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve in equity. The foreign currency translation reserve  
 is reclassified from equity to profit or loss of the Group on disposal of the foreign operation.

 (b) Group companies

  The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into SGD at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of  
 the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the  
 transactions. The exchange differences arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income. On  
 disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign  
 operation is recognised in profit or loss.

  In the case of a partial disposal without loss of control of a subsidiary company that includes a foreign operation,  
 the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling  
 interest and are not recognised in profit or loss. For partial disposals of associated companies or jointly controlled  
 entities that are foreign operations, the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified  
 to profit or loss.

  The Group has elected to recycle the accumulated exchange differences in the separate component of other  
 comprehensive income that arises from the direct method of consolidation, which is the method the Group uses to  
 complete its consolidation.



Federal International (2000) Ltd • Annual Report 2010

51

Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010
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3.5  Basis of consolidation

 Business combinations from 1 January 2010

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the end 
of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiary companies used in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied 
to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

 All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are 
eliminated in full.

 Subsidiary companies are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, 
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

 Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs 
are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received.

 When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be 
recognised in accordance with FRS 39 either in profit or loss or as change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it is not to be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

 In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are remeasured to fair value at 
the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

 The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any) is 
recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree 
identifiable net assets.

 Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of non-
controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
(if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The accounting policy 
for goodwill is set out in Note 3.8(a). In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as 
gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date.
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3.5 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

 Business combinations before 1 January 2010 (cont’d)

 In comparison to the above mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:

 Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Transaction costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest (formerly known as minority interest) was 
measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

 Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps. Adjustments to those fair values relating 
to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and recognised in equity.

 When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquiree are not 
reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination results in a change in the terms of the contract that significantly 
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the contract.

 Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic outflow was 
more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent measurements to the contingent consideration 
affected goodwill.

3.6 Transactions with non-controlling interests

 Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiary companies not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the 
Company, and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the 
consolidated balance sheet, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company.

 Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary company that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling 
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary company. Any difference between the 
amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the parent.

3.7 Property, plant and equipment

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the 
property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying property, plant and equipment. The accounting policy for borrowing costs is set out in Note 3.23. The cost of 
an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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3.7 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Subsequent to recognition, plant and machinery, furniture and fittings and office equipment, motor vehicles and vessels are 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of property, 
plant and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with 
specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and 
maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Freehold and leasehold land and buildings are measured at 
fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment losses recognised after the date of the revaluation. 
Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the fair 
value of the freehold and leasehold land and buildings at the end of the reporting period.

 Any revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the asset revaluation 
reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, 
in which case the increase is recognised in the profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in profit or loss, except to 
the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset carried in the asset revaluation reserve.

 Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and 
the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. The revaluation surplus included in the asset revaluation 
reserve in respect of an asset, is transferred directly to revenue reserves on retirement or disposal of the asset.

 Freehold land has an unlimited life and therefore is not depreciated. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:-

 Leasehold land and buildings - 30 to 36.5 years
 Freehold buildings - 50 years
 Vessels - 10 to 20 years to residual value
 Other property, plant and equipment - 3 to 8 years

 Assets under construction included in plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.
 
 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted prospectively, 
if appropriate.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the 
asset is derecognised.
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3.8 Intangible assets

 (a) Goodwill

  Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.

  For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquire are assigned to those units.

  The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever there 
is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing 
the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill 
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

  Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that cash-generating unit 
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance 
is measured based on the relative fair values of the operations disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating 
unit retained.

  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign 
operations and translated in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 3.4.

  Goodwill and fair value adjustments which arose on acquisitions of foreign operation before 1 January 2005 are 
deemed to be assets and liabilities of the Company and are recorded in SGD at the rates prevailing at the date of 
acquisition.

 (b) Research and development costs

  Research costs are expensed as incurred. Deferred development costs arising from development expenditure on an 
individual project are recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of 
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to 
use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete 
and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
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3.8 Intangible assets (cont’d)

 (b) Research and development costs (cont’d)

  Following initial recognition of the deferred development costs as an intangible asset, it is carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the intangible asset begins 
when development is complete and the asset is available for use. Deferred development costs have a finite useful 
life and are amortised over the estimated useful life not exceeding 5 years on a straight line basis and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.

3.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the 
asset’s recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by 
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiary companies or other available fair value indicators.

 Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.

 Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with 
the function of the impaired asset, except for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other 
comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount 
of any previous revaluation.

 For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group 
estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which 
case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
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3.10 Subsidiary companies

 A subsidiary company is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary companies are accounted for at cost less 
impairment losses.

3.11 Associated companies

 An associated company is an entity, not being a subsidiary company or a joint venture, in which the Group has significant 
influence. The associated company is equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until the 
date the Group ceases to have significant influence over the associated company.

 The Group’s investments in associated companies are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, 
the investment in associated companies is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes 
in the Group’s share of net assets of the associated company. Goodwill relating to an associated company is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor tested individually for impairment. Any excess of the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the associated company’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of

 the investment is deducted from the carrying amount of the investment and is recognised as income as part of the Group’s 
share of results of the associated company in the period in which the investment is acquired.

 The profit or loss reflects the share of the results of operations of the associated compnies. Where there has been a change 
recognised in other comprehensive income by the associated companies, the Group recognises its share of such changes in 
other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associated 
company are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associated companies.

 The Group’s share of the profit or loss of its associated companies is shown on the face of profit or loss after tax and 
non-controlling interests in the subsidiary companies of associated companies.

 When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company equals or exceeds its interest in the associated company, the 
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associated 
company.

 The financial statements of the associated companies are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company.

 The most recent available audited financial statements of the associate are used by the Group in applying the equity method. 
Where the dates of the audited financial statements are not co-terminous with those of the Group, the share of results is 
arrived at from the last audited financial statements available and unaudited management financial statements to the end of 
the accounting period. Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.



Federal International (2000) Ltd • Annual Report 2010

57

Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.11 Associated companies (cont’d)

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associated companies are accounted for at cost less any 
impairment losses.

 After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment 
loss on the Group’s investment in its associated companies. The Group determines at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associated company is impaired. If this is the case, the 
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associated company 
and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss.

 Upon loss of significant influence over the associated companies, the Group measures any retained investment at its fair 
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associated company upon loss of significant influence and the fair 
value of the aggregate of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

3.12 Investments in partnerships

 Investments in partnerships on a long term basis are stated at cost less any impairment in value. The shares of partnerships’ 
profits are accrued based on the audited financial statements of the partnerships and are recognised in the income statement 
in the financial year in which the rights to receive payment have been established.

3.13 Non-current assets held for sale 

 Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell. Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or 
disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which 
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

3.14 Financial assets

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

 When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair 
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
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3.14 Financial assets (cont’d)

 Subsequent measurement

 The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

 (a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for 
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes

  derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge 
relationships as defined by FRS 39. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as 
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

  The Group has not designated any financial assets upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.

  Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any 
gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or 
net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include exchange differences, interest and dividend 
income.

  Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their 
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are 
not held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at 
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in 
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required.

 
 (b) Loans and receivables

  Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

 (c) Held-to-maturity investments

  Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-
maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold the investment to maturity. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the held-to-maturity investments are 
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
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3.14 Financial assets (cont’d)

 Subsequent measurement (cont’d)

 (d) Available-for-sale financial assets

  Available-for-sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as available-for 
sale are those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. 
Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which 
may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions.

  After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Any gains or 
losses from changes in fair value of the financial asset are recognised in other comprehensive income, except that 
impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the 
effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial 
asset is derecognised.

  Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less 
impairment loss.

  Derecognition

  A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On 
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income 
is recognised in profit or loss.

  All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e., the 
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention 
in the marketplace concerned.
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3.15  Impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is 
impaired.

 (a) Financial assets carried at amortised cost

  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses individually whether objective evidence  
 of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets  
 that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an  
 individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets  
 with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually  
 assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised are not included in a  
 collective assessment of impairment.

  If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has incurred, the  
 amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of  
 estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable  
 interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying  
 amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in profit  
 or loss.

  When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly or if an  
 amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are written off against  
 the carrying value of the financial asset.

  To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has incurred, the Group  
 considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or  
 significant delay in payments.

  If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively  
 to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed  
 to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The  
 amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.15 Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

 (b) Financial assets carried at cost

  If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where the issuer  
 operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment loss on financial  
 assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s  
 carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return  
 for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

 (c) Available-for-sale financial assets

  In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence of impairment include (i) significant  
 financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor, (ii) information about significant changes with an adverse effect that have  
 taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer operates, and indicates  
 that the cost of the investment in equity instrument may not be recovered; and (iii) a significant or prolonged decline  
 in the fair value of the investment below its costs. Significant’ is to be evaluated against the original cost of the  
 investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost.

  If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its acquisition cost  
 (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously  
 recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss. Reversals  
 of impairment losses in respect of equity instruments are not recognised in profit or loss; increase in their fair value  
 after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

  In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as  
 financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss  
 measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that  
 investment previously recognised in profit or loss. Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the  
 reduced carrying amount of the asset and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash  
 flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance income.  
 If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increases can be objectively related  
 to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed in  
 profit or loss.
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3.16 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
These also include bank overdrafts (unsecured) that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

3.17 Construction contracts

 Contract revenue and contract costs are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date, when the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated 
reliably. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the 
extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable and contract costs are recognised as expense in the 
period in which they are incurred. An expected loss on the construction contract is recognised as an expense immediately 
when it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue.

 Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in contract work, claims 
and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and they are capable of being reliably 
measured.

 The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to 
date bear to the estimated total contract costs.

3.18 Service concession arrangements

 The Group has entered into service concession arrangements with the various governing bodies or agencies of the 
government of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (the grantors) to supply raw water and treated industrial tap water, 
and operate waste water treatment plants. Under the concession arrangements, the Group will construct and/or operate 
the plants for concession periods of between 27 to 30 years. The grantors have control through ownership, beneficial 
entitlement or otherwise, any significant residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the service arrangement. Such 
concession arrangements fall within the scope of INT FRS 112 and are accounted for as follows:

 Financial receivables

 The Group recognised a financial receivable arising from a service concession arrangement when it has a right to receive 
a fixed and determinable amount of payments during the concession period irrespective of the usage of the concession 
infrastructure. The financial receivable is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 3.14. 
When the Group receives a payment during the concession period it will apportion such payment between (i) a repayment 
of the financial receivable (if any), which will be used to reduce the carrying amount of the financial receivable on its balance 
sheet, (ii) interest income which will be recognised as finance income in its statement of comprehensive income and (iii) 
revenue from operating and maintaining the infrastructure to be recognised in its statement of comprehensive income.
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3.18 Service concession arrangements (cont’d)

 Intangible assets

 The Group recognises an intangible asset arising from a service concession arrangement when it has a right to charge for 
usage of the concession infrastructure but does not have any contractual rights under the concession agreements to receive 
a fixed and determinable amount of payments during the concession period. Intangible assets received as consideration 
for providing construction services in a service concession arrangement are measured at fair value upon initial recognition, 
estimated by reference to the fair value of the construction services provided. When the Group receives an intangible asset 
and a financial asset as consideration for providing construction services in a service concession arrangement, the Group 
estimates the fair value of intangible assets as the difference between the fair value of the construction services provided and 
the fair value of the financial asset received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the intangible asset is measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The estimated useful life of an intangible asset in a service concession 
arrangement is the period when it is available for use to the end of the concession period.

 Revenue recognition

 Revenue relating to construction services under a service concession arrangement is recognised in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy on recognising revenue on construction contracts (see Note 3.26(g)). Operation or service revenue 
is recognised in the period in which the services are provided by the Group. When the Group provides more than one service 
in a service concession arrangement, the consideration received is allocated by reference to the relating fair values of the 
services delivered.

3.19 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition are accounted for as follows:

 - Trading stocks: purchase costs on a weighted average basis. Except for inventories comprising of fire detection and  
 protection equipment, the cost is being determined on the first-in-first-out basis.

 - Finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials and labour and other direct cost. These costs are  
 assigned on a first-in-first-out basis.

 
 Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying value of 

inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completions 
and the estimated cost necessary to make the sale.
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3.20 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation 
can be estimated reliably.

 
 Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 

longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If 
the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as a finance cost.

3.21 Financial liabilities

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of other financial liabilities, plus directly attributable 
transaction costs.

 Subsequent measurement

 The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

 (a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities  
 designated upon initial recognition as at fair value. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are  
 acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered  
 into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships. Separated embedded  
 derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

  Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any  
 gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

  The Group has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.
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3.21 Financial liabilities (cont’d)

 Subsequent measurement (cont’d)

 (b) Other financial liabilities

  After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective  
 interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the 
 amortisation process.

 Derecognition

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit 
or loss.

3.22  Financial guarantee

 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for 
a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due.

 Financial guarantees are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantees are recognised as income in profit 
or loss over the period of the guarantee. If it is probable that the liability will be higher than the amount initially recognised 
less amortisation, the liability is recorded at the higher amount with the difference charged to profit or loss.

3.23  Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the 
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs 
are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection 
with the borrowing of funds.
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3.24 Employee benefits

 Employee leave entitlement

 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to the employees. The estimated 
liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

 Defined contribution plans

 The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has operations. 
In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, 
a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

 Defined benefit plans

 The Group provides additional provisions for employee service entitlements in order to meet the minimum benefits required 
to be paid to qualified employees, as required under the Indonesian Labor Law No.13/2003 (the “Labor Law”). The said 
additional provisions, which are unfunded, are estimated using the projected unit credit method based on the report 
prepared by an independent firm of actuaries.

 Actuarial gains or losses are recognised in the income statement when the net cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains 
or losses at the end of the previous reporting year exceed 10% of the higher of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation or the fair value of the plan assets, if any, at that date. Such gains or losses in excess of the 10% corridor are

 amortised on a straight-line method over the expected average remaining service years of the covered employees.

 Past service cost arising from the introduction of a defined benefit plan or changes in the benefit payable of an existing 
plan is required to be amortised over the period until the benefit becomes vested. To the extent that the benefit is already 
vested immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, the employee benefits program, the Group recognises 
past service cost immediately.

 The related estimated liability for employee benefits is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the end of the reporting date and actuarial gains and losses not recognised, less past service cost not yet recognised.
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3.25 Leases

 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at 
inception date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset. For arrangements entered into prior to 1 January 2005, the date of inception is deemed 
to be 1 January 2005 in accordance with the transitional requirements of INT FRS 104.

 (a) Finance Leases - As lessee

  Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the  
 leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present  
 value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease  
 payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant  
 rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or loss. Contingent  
 rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

  Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease  
 term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

 (b) Finance Leases - As lessor

  Finance leases, which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to legal ownership of the leased items,  
 are recognised as a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. Thus, the lease payment  
 receivable is treated by the Group as repayment of principal and finance income to reimburse and reward the Group  
 for its investment and services.

  The recognition of finance income shall be based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the  
 Group’s net investment in the finance lease. The Group aims to allocate finance income over the lease term on  
 a systematic and rational basis. This income allocation is based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic return  
 on the Group’s net investment in the finance lease. Lease payments relating to the period, excluding costs for services,  
 are applied against the gross investment in the lease to reduce both the principal and the unearned finance income.

 (c) Operating leases – As lessee

  Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
 The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the 
 lease term on a straight-line basis.
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3.25 Leases (cont’d)

 (d) Operating leases – As lessor

  Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as  
 operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of  
 the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as charter hire income. The accounting  
 policies for charter hire income are set out in Note 3.26 (e). Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period  
 in which they are carried.

3.26 Revenue

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can 
be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, 
rebates, and sales taxes or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as principal or 
agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements. The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

 (a) Sale of goods
  
  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the  

 goods to the customer, which generally coincides with their delivery and acceptance. Revenue is not recognised to  
 the extent that where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated  
 costs or the possible return of goods.

 (b) Rendering of services

  Revenues from the provision of service and maintenance, consultancy services, management services rendered by  
 the Company and installation services are recognised upon the performance of the services.

 (c) Dividend income

  Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

 (d) Interest income

  Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

 (e) Charter hire income

  Charter hire income from rental of vessel is recognised on a time apportionment basis.
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3.26 Revenue (cont’d)

 (f) Construction contract

  Revenue from construction contract is recognised by reference to the stage of completion at the end of the reporting  
 period. Stage of completion is determined by reference to the proportion that contract costs incurred for work  
 performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs. Where the contract outcome cannot be measured  
 reliably, revenue is recognised to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

 (g) Revenue from service concession arrangements

  In respect of revenue from the service concession arrangements for water treatment plants, revenue from construction is  
 recognised in accordance with Note 3.18. When the Group receives a payment during the operation phase of the  
 concession period, it will apportion such payment between:

  (i) a repayment of the financial receivable, which will be used to reduce the carrying amount of the financial  
  receivable on its balance sheet;

  (ii) interest income, which will be recognised as finance income in its statement of comprehensive income; and

  (iii) revenue from operating and maintaining the plants in its statement of comprehensive income.

3.27 Deferred revenue

 Deferred revenue relates to revenue from sales of products or rendering of services which is collected in advance of its 
delivery or fulfillment.

3.28 Taxes

 (a) Current income tax

  Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to  
 be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are  
 those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, in the countries where the Group  
 operates and generates taxable income.

  Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised  
 outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates  
 positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to  
 interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.
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3.28 Taxes (cont’d)

 (b) Deferred tax
 
  Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:
  - Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a  

 transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the  
 accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

  - In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary companies, associated  
 companies and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can  
 be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

  - Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition  
 of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,  
 affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

  - In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary companies,  
 associated companies and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to  
 the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable  
 profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each the end of each reporting period 
and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of each reporting period.
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3.28 Taxes (cont’d)
 
 (b) Deferred tax (cont’d)

  Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

  Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current income 
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority.

 (c) Sales tax

  Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

  - Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation  
 authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part  
 of the expense item as applicable; and

  - Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

  The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the balance sheet.

3.29 Segment reporting

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services which are 
independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the respective segments 
under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Company who regularly review the 
segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures 
on each of these segments are shown in Note 50, including the factors used to identify the reportable segments and the 
measurement basis of segment information.

3.30 Share capital and share issue expenses

 Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly attributable 
to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.
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3.31 Contingencies

 A contingent liability is:

 (a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or  
 non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or

 (b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

  (i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
  obligation; or

  (ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group.

 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined.

3.32 Related parties

 A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

 (a) The party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,

  (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Group;

  (ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence over the Group; or

  (iii) has joint control over the Group;

 (b) The party is an associate;

 (c)  The party is a jointly-controlled entity;

 (d)  The party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

 (e)  The party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (d); or

 (f)  The party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for which significant voting  
 power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or (e); or

 (g)  The party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a  
 related party of the Group.
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4. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

 The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities at the end of each reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.

4.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart 
from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements:

 (a) Development costs

  Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 3.8(b). Initial capitalisation of  
 costs is based on management’s judgement that technological and economical feasibility is confirmed, usually when  
 a product development project has reached a defined milestone according to an established project management  
 model. The carrying amount of development costs capitalised at the end of the reporting period was $42,000 
 (2009: $84,000).

 (b) Income taxes

  The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in determining  
 the Group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate  
 tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected  
 tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters  
 is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred  
 tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s income tax  
 payables and deferred tax liabilities at the end of the reporting period was $2,106,000 (2009:$4,136,000) and  
 $1,839,000 (2009: $2,077,000), respectively.
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4.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies (cont’d)

 (c) Determination of functional currency

  The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its 
subsidiary companies. In determining the functional currencies of the entities in the Group, judgement is required to

  determine the currency that mainly influences sales prices for goods and services and of the country whose 
competitive forces and regulations mainly determines the sales prices of its goods and services. The functional 
currencies of the entities in the Group are determined based on management’s assessment of the economic 
environment in which the entities operate and the entities’ process of determining sales prices.

 (d) Accounting for leases

  The Group enters into charter hire leases on its fleet of vessels with third parties. The Group generally retains 
all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these vessels, and therefore accounted for these leases as 
operating leases.

  The Group also entered into a lease agreement which contains terms and conditions, which may transfer 
significant risks and rewards of the anchor handling tug to the lessee in 2009. Such arrangement aggregating to 
$Nil (2009:$9,788,000) is accounted for as finance lease.

4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below.

 (a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

  The cost of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated economic  
 useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be within the years  
 stated in Note 3.7. These are common life expectancies applied in the industry. Changes in the expected level of usage  
 and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets,  
 therefore, future depreciation charges could be revised. The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and  
 equipment at the end of each reporting period is disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements. A 5% difference in  
 the expected useful lives of these assets from management’s estimates would result in approximately 0.58% 
 (2009: 2.93%) variance in the Group’s loss before tax.
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4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

 (b) Impairment of non-financial assets

  The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at end of each 
reporting date. Goodwill and other indefinite life intangibles are tested for impairment annually and at other times 
when such indicators exist. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

  When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from 
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of 
those cash flows. The Group would evaluate, among other factors, past performance, as well as, its expectation 
of business outlook of the asset by taking into account the risks and uncertainties specific to the asset. Further 
details of the key assumptions applied in the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets and other assets, are given in Note 6, Note 9 and Note 10, respectively, to the financial statements.

  As disclosed in Note 10, the Group has assessed the recoverability of other assets comprising the Plant which 
has been reclassified from finance lease receivables due to winding up order of the lessee and accordingly, an 
impairment on the Plant amounting to $11,902,000 was made as at 31 December 2009.

 (c) Impairment of loans and receivables and investment

  The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset and investment are impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group 
considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default 
or significant delay in payments as well as the future cash flow generated by the investment.

  Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated based 
on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying amounts of the Group’s 
loans and receivables as well as investment in associated companies and other investments at the end of the 
reporting period are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

  If the present value of estimated future cash flows decrease by 5% from management’s estimates, the Group’s 
allowance for impairment will increase by $2,688,000 (2009: $5,431,000).
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4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

 (d) Deferred tax assets

  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine 
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable 
profits together with future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of recognised tax losses at 31 December 
2010 was $Nil (2009:$3,050,000). The gross unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2010 were approximately 
$22,400,000 (2009: $22,400,000).

 (e) Construction contracts

  The Group recognises contract revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end 
of each reporting period, when the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably. The stage of 
completion is measured by reference to the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date 
bear to the estimated total contract costs. Significant assumptions are required to estimate the total contract costs 
and the recoverable variation works that will affect the stage of completion. The estimates are made based on 
past experience and knowledge of the project engineers. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising from 
construction contracts at the end of each reporting period are disclosed in Note 25 to financial statements.

 (f) Service concession arrangements

  Revenue for construction services provided under the service concession arrangements and the corresponding 
financial receivables and intangible assets arising are recognised based on the percentage of completion method 
during the construction phase.

  The percentage of completion method during the construction phase is measured by reference to the proportion 
that construction costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total construction costs. Significant judgement is 
required in determining the stage of completion to the extent of the construction costs incurred and the estimated 
total construction costs.

  Significant judgement is also exercised in determining the fair values of the financial receivables and/or intangible 
assets. Discount rates, estimates of future cash flows and other factors are used in the valuation process. The 
assumptions used and estimates may result in different fair value estimates.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010
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5. Group companies

 Details of the subsidiary and associated companies as at 31 December are:

 Name of company Principal activities   Proportion (%)
 (Country of  (Place of business)   of ownership
 incorporation)    Cost interest
     2010 2009 2010 2009
     $’000 $’000 % %

 
  Subsidiary companies       

   
  Held by the Company       

   
  Federal Hardware  Dealer in flowline control material  
  Engineering Co Pte Ltd (1) and services and investment holding
  (Singapore) (Singapore)  (a) 54,808 39,808 100 100
 
  Alton International (S) Dealer in flowline control, hardware   
  Pte Ltd (1) and oilfield engineering materials
  (Singapore) (Singapore)  9,929 9,929 100 100
  
  KVC (UK) Ltd (2) Design, manufacture and assembly   
  (United Kingdom) of valves (United Kingdom)   664 664 90 90
        
  Federal Fire Engineering  Supply and installation supervision of 
  Pte Ltd (1) fire detection and protection systems
  (Singapore) and related products
   (Singapore)  500 500 100 100 

    
 ^*   GV Oilfield Engineering  Dormant  
  Pvt. Ltd. (3) (India)
  (India)   (b) 5 5 60 60
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5. Group companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities   Proportion (%)
 (Country of  (Place of business)   of ownership
 incorporation)    Cost interest
     2010 2009 2010 2009
     $’000 $’000 % %

 
  Subsidiary companies       

   
  Held by the Company       

   
  Federal Offshore Services  Chartering of vessels  
  Pte Ltd (1) (Indonesia) 
  (Singapore)   6,863 6,863 60 60
         

Federal Environmental &  Supply of flowline control products  
  Energy Pte. Ltd. (1)  and provision of water treatment solutions
  (Singapore) (Singapore)  956 956 65 65
         

Federal Energi  Purchase and sale of tugboats  
  Pte Ltd (1) (Singapore)
  (Singapore)   # – # – 100 100 
         

Banyan Utilities Pte Ltd (1) Procurement and construction projects 
  (Singapore) and sale of steam and electricity
   (Singapore)  2,460 2,460 70.05 70.05
 
  Eastern Jason  Chartering of vessels    
  Fabrication Services  (Singapore)  
  Pte Ltd (1)    

  (Singapore)   2,454 2,454 96.83 96.83
 
  Federal Capital Pte Ltd (1) Investment holding  
  (Singapore) (Singapore)  # – # – 100 100
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5. Group companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities   Proportion (%)
 (Country of  (Place of business)   of ownership
 incorporation)    Cost interest
     2010 2009 2010 2009
     $’000 $’000 % %

 
  Subsidiary companies       

   
  Held by the Company       

   
  ^  Federal Resources Services  Dormant 
  Pte Ltd (1) (Singapore)
  (Singapore) 
     (c) – # – – 100
        
 * PT Federal International Investment holding     
  (Indonesia) (Indonesia)  2 2 100 100

     78,641  63,641  

         
  

         
  

~



80

Federal International (2000) Ltd • Annual Report 2010

Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010

5. Group companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities   Proportion (%)
 (Country of  (Place of business)   of ownership
 incorporation)     interest
       2010 2009
       % %

 
  Subsidiary companies       

   
  Held by subsidiary companies       

   
 * PT Fedsin Rekayasa Pratama Hardware merchant and  
  (Indonesia) investment holding
   (Indonesia)    99 99 

    
 * PT Federal International Dormant  
  (Indonesia) (Indonesia)    99 99
         

Federal International  Trader and agent of flowline  
  (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (4) control products
  (PRC) (PRC)    65 65
     
  Alton International (Thailand)  Dealer in hardware and oilfield  
  Co., Ltd (5) engineering materials
  (Thailand) (Thailand)    100 100
        
 * K K Marine Inc. Dormant  
  (Panama) (Indonesia)    60 60
         

Eastern Jason Fabrication  Chartering of vessels  
  Services Pte Ltd (1) (Singapore)  
  (Singapore)     7.5 7.5
         

Alton International Resources  Marketing and trading of coal  
  Pte Ltd (1) commodity
  (Singapore) (Indonesia)    70 70
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5. Group companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities   Proportion (%)
 (Country of  (Place of business)   of ownership
 incorporation)     interest
       2010 2009
       % %

 
  Subsidiary companies        

  
  Held by subsidiary companies       

   
  PT Alton International  Coal mining and other natural  
  Resources (6) resources mining and sales
  (Indonesia) (Indonesia)    70 70
 
 + PT Gasuma Federal  Procurement and construction projects 
  Indonesia and sale of electricity, steam,
  (Indonesia) condensate, LNG and CNG
   (Indonesia)    60 60
         

PT Mega Federal Energy (6) Procurement and construction  
  (Indonesia) projects and sale of electricity
   (Indonesia)    60 60
         

Federal Environmental  Water and waste water  
  Engineering (Shanghai) Co Ltd treatment projects
   (formerly known as Federal (PRC)
  IESE Environmental Technology
  (Shanghai) Co Ltd) (4)      
  (PRC)     (d) 65 58.5

 * FEE Water (China-PZH) Ltd Investment holding  
  (British Virgin Islands) (British Virgin Islands)    65 65
         

FEE Investment Management  Provision of management and  
  Consultants (Shanghai)  consultancy services for
  Co Ltd (4) environmental-related projects
  (PRC) (PRC)    65 65
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5. Group companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities   Proportion (%)
 (Country of  (Place of business)   of ownership
 incorporation)     interest
       2010 2009
       % %

 
  Subsidiary companies        

  
  Held by subsidiary companies       

   
  Federal Environmental  Procurement and construction  
  (Panzhihua) Co., Ltd (7) projects and provision of waste
  (PRC) water treatment services
   (PRC)    65 65
        
 ^~ V2 Innovations Pte Ltd Dormant  
  (Singapore) (Singapore)    (e) – 100
     
  Federal Environmental  Investment holding  
  (Southwest China) Pte Ltd (1) (Singapore)
  (Singapore)       65 65
    
  Federal Environmental  Investment holding  
  (Chengdu) Pte Ltd (1) (Singapore)
  (Singapore)       65 65
 
  Federal Water (Chengdu)   Supply of raw water, treated industrial 
  Co., Ltd. (7) tap water and project consultancy services 
  (PRC) (PRC)    58.5 58.5
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5. Group companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities   Proportion (%)
 (Country of  (Place of business)   of ownership
 incorporation)    Cost interest
     2010 2009 2010 2009
     $’000 $’000 % %

 
  Associated companies       

   
  Held by the Company      

 
 + Syntellect Telesystems   Information systems solution provider 
  Pte Ltd (8) and supply of related information
  (Singapore) technology equipment
   (Singapore)  (f) –  147 –  45

 * KVC Co., Ltd Manufacture and export of valves  
  (Japan) (Japan)  869 869 50 50
         

Federal JWR Energy  Engagement in turnkey engineering,  
  Pte Ltd (1) procurement and construction projects
  (Singapore) and rental of oil and gas production facilities
   (Indonesia)  203 203 40 40
         

FLZ Marine Pte Ltd (8) Dormant  
  (Singapore) (Singapore)  45 45 45 45
         

Sapex International Pte. Ltd. (1) Domant  
  (Singapore) (Singapore)  17 17 50 50

~
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5. Group companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities   Proportion (%)
 (Country of  (Place of business)   of ownership
 incorporation)    Cost interest
     2010 2009 2010 2009
     $’000 $’000 % %

 
  Associated companies       

   
  Held by the Company      

 
 *^ Federal Rampco  Supply of piping materials, chemicals 
  International Ltd and petro-chemical products and provision 
  (Korea) of related services to oil, gas, chemical 
   and petro-chemical industry
   (Korea)  (g) –  84 –  41.7
   
 *^ PT Federal Batanghari Dormant  
  (Indonesia) (Indonesia)  (h) –  51 –  50
         

PT Gunanusa Utama  Production and maintenance of tools
  Fabricators (9) and equipment of ships, and drilling
  (Indonesia)  tools for oil and gas industries, doing 
   business in general workshops, 
   contracting and trade
   (Indonesia)  7,152 7,152 20.66 20.66
        
 
     8,286  8,568  
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5. Group companies (cont’d)

 Name of company Principal activities   Proportion (%)
 (Country of  (Place of   of ownership
 incorporation)  business)   interest
       2010 2009
       % %

 Associated companies          
           
 Held by subsidiary companies         

 
 * PT Indoenergi Perkasa  Sale and distribution of Ingersoll Rand 
  (Indonesia) air-compressors and related services
   (Indonesia)    40 40
    
 +* PT Binaguna Adi Supply, installation and maintenance  
  Sejahtera (10) of products for oil and gas
  ( Indonesia)  production facilities
   (Indonesia)    (i) –  20
        
 * Alton International (B) Dormant  
  Sdn Bhd (Brunei Darussalam)
  (Brunei Darussalam)     33 33
     
 ~^ KVA Energy Pte Ltd Dormant
  (Singapore) (Singapore)    (j) –  50
        
 * Federal-Applied  Dormant 
  Industrial Services Co Ltd (Thailand) 
  (Thailand)     49 49
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5. Group companies (cont’d)

 # Amount less than $1,000
 ~ Not required to be audited under S 205B, Singapore Companies Act
 * Not required to be audited under the laws of the respective countries of incorporation
 (1) Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore
 (2) Audited by Mazars LLP, United Kingdom
 (3)  Audited by Gosavi & Tadphale Chartered Accountants, India
 (4) Audited by Shanghai LSC Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd, PRC
 (5) Audited by Thepparit Auditing and Advisory, Thailand
 (6) Audited by member firm of Ernst & Young Global in Indonesia
 (7) Audited by Sichuan Huaxin (Group) CPA Firm, PRC
 (8)  Audited by B L Ong & Co, Singapore
 (9)  Audited by Paul Hadiwinata, Hidayat, Arsono & Rekan, Indonesia
 (10)  Audited by Drs. Bambang S. & Rekan, Indonesia
 + Interest in the company was disposed of or pending completion of sale during the financial year
 ^ Closure of company pending completion of liquidation or strike off

 (a) During the financial year, the Company had further increased its investment in Federal Hardware Engineering Co 
Pte Ltd by $15,000,000 via capitalisation of loans.

 (b) The Company’s subsidiary company, GV Oilfield Engineering Pvt Ltd has been placed under members’ voluntary 
winding up. A liquidator has been appointed to handle the affairs incidental to the liquidation.

 (c) An application of striking off had been submitted to Accounting & Corporation Regulatory Authority to strike off 
Federal Resources Services Pte Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary company, from the Registers of Companies, which 
has been dormant during the financial year.

 (d) During the financial year, a 65% owned subsidiary company of the Group further acquired a 10% equity interest from 
the non-controlling interest in Federal IESE Environmental Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. for cash consideration 
of $21,000. Following the completion of the acquisition, the English translated name of the subsidiary company 
has also been changed to Federal Environmental Engineering (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

 (e) During the financial year, a subsidiary company had submitted an application to Accounting & Corporate Regulatory 
Authority to strike off V2 Innovations Pte Ltd from the Registers of Companies.

 (f) During the financial year, the Company had disposed its entire 45% equity interest in Syntellect Telesystems Pte 
Ltd for a total consideration of $142,000.



Federal International (2000) Ltd • Annual Report 2010

87

Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010

5. Group companies (cont’d)

 (g) The Company’s 41% owned associated company, Federal Rampco International Ltd has been wound up since 
February 2010.

 (h) During the financial year, the Company announced that a Deed of Closure had been filed with relevant authorities in 
Indonesia to liquidate its 50% owned associated company, PT Federal Batanghari, being an Indonesian corporation 
domiciled in Indonesia (Jambi City). The company had been inactive since its incorporation.

 (i) During the financial year, a subsidiary company, PT Fedsin Rekayasa Pratama has entered into a Share Purchase 
Agreement for the sale of its entire 20% equity interest in shareholdings in PT Binaguna Adi Sejahtera for 
US$150,000.

 (j) Pursuant to Section 344 of the Companies Act (Cap. 50), an application of striking off had been submitted to 
Accounting & Corporation Regulatory Authority to strike off KVA Energy Pte Ltd, a 50% owned subsidiary company, 
from the Registers of Companies, which has been a dormant company since its incorporation.

6. Property, plant and equipment

       Furniture
     Leasehold Plant and fittings 
 Group  Freehold  Freehold land and and and office Motor  Construction- 
   land buildings  buildings machinery  equipment vehicles Vessels in-progress Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  At valuation At cost

                   
  Cost or valuation:                  
  At 1 January 2009  2,870  2,230  6,544  34,217  4,487  4,737  85,330  19,714  160,129
 Additions (restated)   –  –  –  9,231  268  73  151  –  9,723
 Disposals/write off   –  –  –  (29,815)  (172)  (30)  –  –  (30,017)
 Reclassification   –  –  –  6,320  –  –  –  (6,320)  –
 Disposal of subsidiary
    company (Note 43)   –  –  –  (6,137)  –  (5)  –  –  (6,142)
 Attributable to disposal group
    classified as held for sale
    (Note 23)   –  –  –  –  (57)  –  –  (10,689)  (10,746)
 Exchange differences   –  –  –  803  29  654  (2,198)  (2,705)  (3,417)  

                 
 At 31 December 2009 and
    1 January 2010 (restated)   2,870  2,230  6,544  14,619  4,555  5,429  83,283  –  119,530
 Additions   –  –  –  34  205  164  –  –  403
 Disposals/write off   – –  –  –  (8)  (35)  –  –  (43)
 Attributable to disposal group
    classified as held for sale
    (Note 23)   –  –  –  –  –  –  (36,618)  –  (36,618)
 Exchange differences   –  –  –  (603)  (80)  (126)  (6,594)  –  (7,403)  

                 
  At 31 December 2010   2,870  2,230  6,544  14,050  4,672  5,432  40,071  –  75,869
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       Furniture
     Leasehold Plant and fittings 
 Group  Freehold  Freehold land and and and office Motor  Construction- 
   land buildings  buildings machinery  equipment vehicles Vessels in-progress Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  At valuation At cost

                  
  Accumulated depreciation 
    and impairment loss:                 
  At 1 January 2009   –  162  315  843  3,150  614  9,697  –  14,781
 Depreciation charge for the
    financial year   –  81  190  3,687  421  657  4,817  –  9,853
 Disposals/write off   –  –  –  (2,143)  (165)  (33)  –  –  (2,341)
 Impairment loss   –  –  –  –  –  – 2,809  – 2,809
 Disposal of subsidiary company
    (Note 43)   –  –  –  (558)  –  (1)  –  –  (559)
 Attributable to disposal group
    classified as held for sale (Note 23)  –  –  –  –  (25)  –  –  –  (25)
 Exchange differences   –  –  –  82  6  62  (433)  –  (283)

 At 31 December 2009 and
    1 January 2010 (restated)  – 243  505  1,911  3,387  1,299  16,890  –  24,235
 Depreciation charge for the
    financial year   –  81  190  1,896  422  690  3,674  –  6,953
 Disposals/write off   –  –  –  –  (8)  (8)  –  –  (16)
 Impairment loss   –  –  –  –  –  –  11,898  –  11,898
 Attributable to disposal group
    classified as held for sale (Note 23)  –  –  –  –  –  –  (11,890)  –  (11,890)
 Exchange differences   –  –  –  (132)  (26)  (29)  (1,550)  –  (1,737)

 At 31 December 2010   –  324  695  3,675  3,775  1,952  19,022  –  29,443

 Net carrying amount:
 At 31 December 2009 (restated)   2,870  1,987  6,039  12,708  1,168  4,130  66,393  –  95,295

 At 31 December 2010   2,870  1,906  5,849  10,375  897  3,480  21,049  –  46,426  
                 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010
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6. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

   Furniture
  and fittings
  and office 
 Company equipment
   $’000

  
 Cost:  
 At 1 January 2009  41
 Additions  14

 At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010  55
 Additions  1

 At 31 December 2010  56

  
 Accumulated depreciation:  
 At 1 January 2009  14
 Depreciation charge for the financial year  11

  
 At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010  25
 Depreciation charge for the financial year  10

 At 31 December 2010  35

  
 Net carrying amount:  
 At 31 December 2009  30

  
 At 31 December 2010  21

  
 Revaluation of leasehold land and building

 Leasehold land and building relate to a single-storey detached factory situated at 12 Chin Bee Drive on leasehold land of 
7,146.3 square metres. The lease tenure of the leasehold land is 36.5 years effective June 2007.

 The Group had engaged United Premas Limited, an accredited independent valuer, to determine the fair value of its leasehold 
land and building. Fair value is determined by reference to open market values on an existing use basis. The last revaluation 
was performed on 15 December 2006.
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6. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Revaluation of freehold land, and freehold and leasehold buildings

 Freehold land and buildings relate to 2 and 3-storey terrace factories situated at 47 and 49 Genting Road on freehold land 
of 810.9 metres. Leasehold building relates to a single-storey factory situated at 11 Tuas Avenue 1 on a leasehold land area 
of 4,701.4 square metres. The lease tenure of the leasehold land is 30 years effective March 2007.

 The Group had engaged Colliers International, an accredited independent valuer, to determine the fair value of its freehold 
land and buildings and leasehold building. Fair value is determined by reference to open market values on an existing use 
basis. The last revaluation was performed on 27 February 2007.

 If the freehold land and buildings and leasehold land and buildings were measured using the cost model, the carrying amounts 
would be as follows:

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000  $’000

 Freehold land at 31 December:
    Cost and net carrying amount  2,562  2,562
 
 Freehold buildings at 31 December:
    Cost  4,712  4,712
    Accumulated depreciation  (3,744)  (3,701)

 Net carrying amount  968  1,011

 Leasehold land and buildings at 31 December:
    Cost  6,139  6,139
    Accumulated depreciation  (2,410)  (2,200)

 Net carrying amount  3,729  3,939

 Construction-in-progress

 Construction-in-progress in 2009 comprises (i) the pipeline located in the Republic of Indonesia, which is constructed for 
lease to third parties that was disposed as a result of disposal of a subsidiary company; and (ii) the power plant and ancillary 
facilities located at Desa Sokosari, Kecamatan Soko, Tuban Region, East Java Province, Republic of Indonesia which is 
reclassified as assets of disposal group classified as held for sale (Note 23).
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6. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Assets held under finance leases

 During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of $101,000 
(2009: $4,596,000) by means of finance leases. The cash outflow on acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounted 
to $302,000 (2009:$5,127,000).

 The carrying amount of these property, plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period was $7,691,000 
(2009: $9,260,000) (Note 31).

 Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities.

 Assets pledged as security

 In addition to assets held under finance leases, the Group’s leasehold land and buildings and vessel with carrying amounts 
of approximately $5,849,000 and $21,049,000 (2009:$6,039,000 and $66,393,000), respectively, are mortgaged to secure 
banking facilities and bank loans of certain subsidiary companies (Notes 29 and 30).

 Impairment of assets

 A subsidiary company of the Group within the Marine Logistics segment, Eastern Jason Fabrication Services Pte Ltd carried 
out an annual review of the recoverable amount of its vessel, Federal II.

 The valuation of the vessel based on its value in use is dependent on the project secured. The management’s plan and 
intention to look out for Floating Storage and Offloading (“FSO”) and Floating Production Storage and Offloading (“FPSO”) 
opportunities for Federal II remains unchanged and continues. To be consistent with management’s original and ultimate 
purpose of the use of this vessel, the valuation would be done on the basis of the vessel being used in connection with a 
FSO project.

 The Group had engaged Ritchie & Bisset (Far East) Pte. Ltd., an accredited independent valuer, to determine the probable 
market value of the vessel. The valuation of the vessel is determined by both the scrapped value of the vessel and the net 
present value of the future income of Federal II securing a FSO project based on current running costs and anticipated daily 
charter rates which are reflective of current market conditions.

 In the light of a suppressed shipping market in the like industry, an impairment loss of $11,898,000 (2009: $2,809,000) 
representing the write-down of this vessel to the recoverable amount was recognised in “Administrative and General Costs” 
line item of profit or loss for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.
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7. Investment in subsidiary companies
  Company
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 Unquoted shares, at cost:   

 At 1 January  63,641  63,302
 Capitalisation of debts owing by a subsidiary company  15,000  –
 Issuance of shares for increased investment in a
    subsidiary company  – 749
 Write off of a subsidiary company  –  (410)

 At 31 December  78,641  63,641
 Impairment losses  (5,492)  (3,432)
 
 Net carrying amount  73,149  60,209

 Analysis of impairment losses:-
    At 1 January  3,432  972
    Charge for the financial year  2,060  2,460

    At 31 December  5,492  3,432

 Impairment testing of investment in subsidiary companies

 Management performed impairment tests for its investment in subsidiary companies that have been persistently making 
losses.

 An impairment loss of $2,060,000 (2009: $Nil) has been recognised for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 in its 
investment in a subsidiary company in Marine Logistics business segment to write down the subsidiary company to its 
recoverable amount.

 In 2009, the Company has recognised an impairment loss of $2,460,000 in respect of the full cost of investment in a subsidiary 
company in the Energy/Utilities business segment as the operation of the subsidiary company was suspended due to the 
liquidation of its major customer.
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8. Investment in associated companies
 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 
 Unquoted shares, at cost  8,341  8,982  8,286  8,568
 Share of post-acquisition reserves  1,072  (530)  –  –
 Dividend income received from
    associated companies  (48)  (26)  –  –
 Goodwill  776  756  –  –
 Impairment loss  –  (99)  (63)  (146)
 Share of changes recognised
    directly in an associated
    company’s equity  2,778  2,775  –  –
 Exchange differences  (1,387)  (457)  –  –
 Attributable to disposal group
    classified as held for sale
    (Note 23)  – (194) – –

 Net carrying amount  11,532  11,207  8,223  8,422

 When the Group’s share of losses exceeds the carrying amount of the investment in an associated company, the investment 
is reported at $Nil and recognition of losses is discontinued except to the extent of the Group’s commitment.

 The Group has not recognised losses relating to its associated companies where its share of losses exceeds the Group’s 
interest in these associated companies. The Group’s cumulative share of unrecognised losses at the end of the reporting 
period was $114,000 (2009: $146,000), of which $Nil (2009: $53,000) was the share of the current year’s losses. The Group 
has no obligation in respect of these losses.

 The Company has provided an allowance of $Nil (2009: $146,000) as at 31 December 2010 for impairment of its investment 
in associated companies, Federal Rampco International Ltd which had wound up and two other companies which are 
dormant.

 The summarised financial information of the associated companies, not adjusted for the proportion of ownership interest 
held by the Group, is as follows:

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 Assets and liabilities:
 Total assets  129,480  250,719
 
 Total liabilities  (87,235)  (113,608)
 
 Results:
 Revenue  188,393  201,032
 
 Profit for the year  4,472  3,731
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9. Intangible assets

     Deferred 
     development
 Group   Goodwill costs Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000

    
 Cost    
 At 1 January 2009    1,044  613  1,657
 Written off    –  (373)  (373)
 Exchange differences    –  34  34
 
 At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010   1,044  274  1,318
 Exchange differences    –  (32)  (32)

 At 31 December 2010    1,044  242  1,286
 
 Accumulated amortisation
 At 1 January 2009    –  485  485
 Written off    –  (373)  (373)
 Amortisation    –  55  55
 Exchange differences    –  23  23

 At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010   –  190  190
 Amortisation    –  38  38
 Exchange differences    –  (28)  (28)

 At 31 December 2010    –  200  200

 Net carrying amount:
 At 31 December 2009    1,044  84  1,128
 
 At 31 December 2010    1,044  42  1,086

 Deferred development costs

 Deferred development costs relate to testing and design development projects and have an average remaining amortisation 
period of 0.5 years (2009: 1.5 years). 

 Amortisation expense

 The amortisation of deferred development costs is included in the “Administrative and General Costs” line item in profit or loss.

 Impairment testing of goodwill

 Goodwill arising from business combinations have been allocated to two cash-generating units (“CGU”), which are also the 
reportable operating segments, for impairment testing as follows:

 - Manufacturing/Design/Research and Development segment, and
 - Marine Logistics segment
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9. Intangible assets (cont’d)

 Impairment testing of goodwill (cont’d) 

 The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each CGU are as follows:

  Manufacturing/
  Design/Research
  and Development Marine Logistics
  segment segment Total
  2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

         
Goodwill 862 862 182 182 1,044 1,044

         
The recoverable amount for the above CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations using cash flow 
projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a 3 year period. The pre-tax discount rate applied to 
the cash flow projections are as follows:

   Manufacturing/
   Design/Research 
   and Development Marine Logistics 
   segment segment
    2010 2009 2010 2009
    % % % %

       
 Pre-tax discount rates   10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0

       
 The calculations of value in use for the above CGUs are most sensitive to the following assumptions:

 Budgeted gross margins – Gross margins are based on average values achieved in the three years preceding the start of 
the budget period. These increase over the budget period for anticipated efficiency improvements.

 Pre-tax discount rates – Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the risks specific to each CGU. This is the 
benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future investment proposals. In 
determining appropriate discount rates for each CGU, regard has been given to the yield on a ten year government bond 
at the beginning of the budgeted year.

 Market share assumptions – These assumptions are important because, management assesses how the CGU’s position, 
relative to its competitors, might change over the budget period. Management expects the Group’s share of the flowline 
control products and marine logistics markets to be stable over the budget period.
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10. Other assets

 Exploration Co-
 and generation
 development facility
 expenditure plant Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2009  923  –  923
Reclassification from finance lease
   receivable during the financial year  –  21,902  21,902
Exchange differences  152  –  152

At 31 December 2009, 1 January 2010
   and at 31 December 2010  1,075  21,902  22,977

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
At 1 January 2009  77  –  77
Impairment loss  –  11,902  11,902
Amortisation  954  –  954
Exchange differences  44  –  44
At 31 December 2009, 1 January 2010
   and at 31 December 2010  1,075  11,902  12,977

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2009 and 2010  –  10,000  10,000

 Other assets comprise the Co-generation facility plant (the “Plant”) located on Jurong Island, which was reclassified from 
finance lease receivables in 2009.

 Capitalisation of exploration and development expenditure was incurred in respect of mining activities.

 Recoverability of other asset

 The Group considered the recoverability of the Plant, which has been reclassified from finance lease receivables in the light 
of the lessee being liquidated. The Court has awarded in favour of the debenture holder of lessee in respect of ownership 
of the lessee’s bio-diesel plant.

 During the financial year, the debenture holder had engaged a subsidiary company of the Group to discuss the resumption 
on the supply of steam and electricity for the re-commencement of the bio-diesel plant.

 In the light of the advance stage of discussions, management is optimistic that the Plant will resume the supply of steam 
and electricity to the debenture holder, given the latter being desirous in entering into a supply arrangement with the Group 
on terms to be mutually agreed.
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10. Other assets (cont’d)

 The recoverable amount of the Plant is determined from value in use calculations based on the latest terms of negotiations 
with the new bio-diesel plant owner. Management has also reconsidered its assumptions regarding production level 
for the sale of steam and electricity at an achievable capacity. The carrying value of the Plant as at 31 December 2010 
commensurate with its value in use, hence no further impairment is required for the financial year.

11. Other investments (non-current)

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 Available-for-sale financial asset
 Investment in partnership, at cost (unquoted)  20  20

 The Group has a 20% (2009: 20%) equity interest in a partnership entity that is held through a subsidiary company. This 
partnership is set-up in Brunei Darussalam and is principally engaged in the supply of valves, fitting and instruments.

12. Trade receivables (non-current)
  Group
  2010  2009
  $’000  $’000

 
 Trade receivable – nominal amount  10,378  10,378
 Less: Allowance for impairment  (10,378)  –
 
  –  10,378

 Movement in allowance account:-
    At 1 January  –  1,126
    Charge for the financial year  10,378  –
    Reversal for the financial year  –  (162)
    Written off  –  (964)

 At 31 December 10,378  –

 Trade receivable is non interest-bearing relates to the non-current portion of a repayment scheme provided by a customer. 
An impairment has been made on the outstanding balance as disclosed in Note 17.
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13. Other receivables (non-current)

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 Balance of consideration for disposal of a subsidiary
    company and related assets  7,001  60,393
 Less : Amount due within 12 months (Note 18)  (4,657)  (57,584)

 Amounts due after 12 months  2,344  2,809
 Deposits  1  1

  2,345  2,810
14. Financial and lease receivables

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000   

  (Restated)

 Non-current
 Financial receivables  28,055  19,732
 Lease receivables  –  9,440

  28,055  29,172

 Current
 Financial receivables  3,761  –
 Lease receivables  –  348

  3,761  348 
 
  31,816  29,520
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14. Financial and lease receivables (cont’d)

 Future minimum lease receipts under financial lease together with the present value of the net minimum lease receipts for 
the Group are as follows:

               Group
 2010 2009
  Minimum Present Minimum Present
  lease value of lease value of
 Group receipts receipts receipts receipts
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
       

Within one year  –  –  2,388  348
 After one year but not later
    than five years  –  –  9,558 2,436
 Later than five years  –  –  9,423  7,004

 Total minimum lease
    receipt receivables  –  –  21,369  9,788
 Less: Unearned interest income  –  –  (11,581)  –

 Present value of minimum
    lease receipt receivables  –  –  9,788  9,788

 The effective interest rate of this lease is Nil% (2009: 21.8%) per annum.

 Anchor handling tug

 In 2009, the Group entered into an agreement which transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
anchor handling tug to the lessee, and provided for the transfer of ownership of this asset to the lessee by the end of the 
lease term at a nominal price. This agreement was classified as a finance lease. The agreement was terminated during the 
financial year.
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14.  Financial and lease receivables (cont’d)

 Financial receivables

 The Group has entered into service concession arrangements with the various governing bodies or agencies of the 
government of the PRC for provision of waste water treatment services and for supply of raw and tap water for concession 
period of 27 to 30 years. The financial receivables relate to the right to receive a fixed and determinable amount of payments 
during the concession period for construction services irrespective of the usage of the concession infrastructure.

 Prior year adjustments

 The adjustments relate to the application of INT FRS 112 Service Concession Arrangements to one of the existing Build-
Operate-Own (“BOO”) service arrangement contract which gave the grantor beneficial entitlement at the end of the service 
arrangement, and hence, falls within the scope of INT FRS 112. As a result of the application of the above policy, the 
comparative figures have been restated.

  2009 2009
  $’000 $’000     

 (Previously (Restated)    
 reported)    

 Income statement
 Revenue  206,752  226,484
 Cost of sales  (162,581)  (181,182)
 
 Balance sheet
 Property, plant and equipment  113,896  95,295
 Financial and lease receivables (non-current)  9,440  29,172
 Revenue reserve  (12,772)  (13,507)
 Non-controlling interests  (1,144)  (1,540)

 Cash flows from operating activities
 Adjustments for:
    Increase in financial and lease receivables  (9,732)  (29,464)
    Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (23,728)  (5,127)
 
 Loss per share attributable to owners of the
    parent (cents per share)
 Basic (3.06) (2.88)
 Diluted  (3.06)  (2.88)

  The amount of revenue and profits recognised during the financial year for the construction services provided under the 
arrangement amounts to $11,921,000 (2009: $19,732,000) and $1,892,000 (2009: $1,131,000), respectively.
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15. Deferred tax

 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

        
At 1 January  (1,881)  382  46  34

 Movement in temporary differences  169  (2,030)  (15)  12
 Attributable to disposal group
    classified as held for sale (Note 23)  – (225)  –  –
 Exchange differences  196  (8)  –  –

 At 31 December  (1,516)  (1,881)  31  46

 
 Deferred tax as at 31 December relates to the following:
 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

        
Deferred tax liabilities

 Differences in depreciation
    for tax purposes  2,166 5,127 2 3
 Differences in service concession
    revenue recognition  139 – – –

  2,305  5,127  2  3

 Deferred tax assets
 Provisions  335  191  33  49
 Unabsorbed capital allowances  445  5  –  –
 Unutilised tax losses  –  3,050  –  –
 Other items  9  –  –  –

  789  3,246  33  49
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15. Deferred tax (cont’d)

 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current  
 tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority. The amounts determined after appropriate offsetting  
 are included in the balance sheet as follows:
 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

        
Deferred tax liabilities  (1,839)  (2,077)  –  –

 Deferred tax assets  323  196  31  46

 
 Unrecognised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances of approximately  
 $22,400,000 (2009: $22,400,000) and $10,200,000 (2009: $6,211,000), respectively, that are available for offset against future  
 taxable profits of the subsidiary companies in which the losses and capital allowances arose for which no deferred tax  
 assets are recognised due to uncertainty of their recoverability. The use of these tax losses and capital allowances are subject  
 to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries  
 in which the companies operate.

16. Inventories
     
    Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000        

 Balance Sheet:
    Trading stocks  34,279  38,116
    Stocks-in-transit  –  582
    Work-in-progress  269  860
    Raw materials  533  –

  35,081  39,558

 Movement of allowance account:
    At 1 January  2,301  2,582
    Charge/(credit) for the financial year  945 (270)
    Written down  –  (11)
    Reinstate  276  –
    Exchange differences  (2)  –

    At 31 December  3,520 2,301

 Income statement:
 Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales  9,044 10,541

 The Group has subjected trading stocks amounting to $23,509,000 (2009: $10,000,000) to a floating charge as security 
for the inventory financing convertible loans (Note 30).
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17. Trade receivables 

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 120 days’ terms. They are recognised at their original 
invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

 Receivables that are past due but not impaired

 The Group has trade receivables amounting to $14,070,000 (2009: $30,213,000) that are past due at the end of the 
reporting period but not impaired. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their ageing at the end of the 
reporting period is as follows:

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 Trade receivables past due:   
     Lesser than 30 days 2,133  2,736
     30 to 60 days 638  6,587
     61 to 90 days 2,576  1,055
     More than 90 days 8,723  19,835
  
  14,070  30,213
   
 
 Included in the Group’s trade receivables is a certain debtor with a net carrying value of $5,701,000 (2009: $28,300,000) 

which are past due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful 
receivables. Subsequent to year end, the Group has entered into a deed of settlement to acquire inventories of approximately 
$5,701,000 to offset the carrying receivables. These trade receivables are secured by the personal guarantee provided by 
the owner and corporate guarantee provided by the Indonesian company. However, management took into account of its 
payment history and the current market condition in which the customer operates which has impacted its ability to pay 
and took a prudent stand by recognising an impairment loss on trade receivables of $19,214,000, of which $10,378,000 
(Note 12) relates to non-current portion of the receivable.
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17. Trade receivables (cont’d)

 Receivables that are impaired

 The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the movement of the allowance 
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows: 

                 Group
                                Individually impaired
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 Trade receivables – nominal amounts  23,173  5,301
 Less: Allowance for impairment  (17,575)  (4,918)

  5,598  383
 Movement in allowance accounts:
    At 1 January  4,918  3,615
    Charge for the financial year  13,153  3,990
    Written off  (456)  (2,687)
    Exchange differences  (40)  –

    At 31 December    17,575  4,918

                Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 (Reversal of)/bad debts directly written off to profit or loss  (186) 11,152

 Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to debtors that 
are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral 
or credit enhancements.
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18. Other receivables

 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

       
 Amount due from subsidiary 
    company’s shareholders – 3  –  –
 Staff loans 32 11 – –
 Sundry debtors 4,428 1,809 – 71
 Recoverables 8,149 – – –
 Balance of consideration for 
    disposal of a subsidiary
    company and related assets
    (Note 13) 4,657 57,584  63  –
  17,266  59,407  63  71

 Sundry debtors are unsecured and non-interest bearing.

 Included in recoverables is recoverable from a customer of $6,985,000 arising from termination of a charter contract and 
recoverable from the purchaser of the vessel, Federal I of $1,164,000 for certain expenditure incidental to the sale of 
the vessel.

 Receivables that are impaired
 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009       

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
       
 Other receivables – nominal amounts 12,557 1,022 – –
 Less: Allowance for impairment  (5,926)  (1,022)  –  –

   6,631  –  –  –

 Movement in allowance accounts:
 
 At 1 January  1,022  1,020  –  –
 Charge for the financial year 4,904 2 – –

 At 31 December 5,926 1,022 – –

 Included in the allowance for impairment is an amount of $4,317,000 which relates to the non-current portion of other 
receivables (Note 13).

        Group
    2010 2009
    $’000   $’000

 Bad debts directly written off to profit or loss    587  –
 
 Other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to debtors that are 

in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or 
credit enhancements.
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19. Deferred expenditure

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 At 1 January  46 6,032
 Addition  – 2 

Amortisation  – (1,073)
 Written off (46) (81)
 Reimbursement of deferred expenditure of a disposed subsidiary (Note 43) – (4,934)
 Exchange differences – 100

 At 31 December  – 46

   
20. Amounts due from subsidiary companies

 Except for amounts due from certain subsidiary companies of $13,530,000 (2009:$45,137,000) which bear interest at rates 
ranging from 8.0% - 13.5% (2009: 6.8% - 18.0%) per annum, all other amounts are interest-free.

 Except for certain amounts due from certain subsidiary companies of $4,751,000 (2009:$3,716,000) which are trade related, 
all other amounts are non-trade related, unsecured and expected to be settled in cash and inter-company settlement within 
the next twelve months.

 The trade balances and transactions mainly relate to management fees while the non-trade balances and transactions mainly 
relate to loans, interest on loans and payments made on behalf of the subsidiary companies.

 At the end of the reporting period, the Company has provided an allowance of $51,382,000 (2009: $7,834,000) for impairment 
of unsecured loans to subsidiary companies with a nominal amount of $51,570,000 (2009: $8,997,000). One of the subsidiary 
companies has suffered significant financial losses since past financial year as its major customer is under winding up order. 
Another subsidiary company has been suffering financial losses as it has yet to secure long term charter contract to date.

  Company
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 Movement in allowance accounts:   
     At 1 January  7,834 211
     Charge for the financial year 43,548 7,623

    At 31 December  51,382 7,834
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21. Amounts due from associated companies

 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

       
 Trade 1,695  310  792  709
 Non-trade 2,385  6,256  641  2,174
  4,080  6,566  1,433  2,883 

 
 Except for amounts due from certain associated companies to the Group and Company of $2,292,000 (2009: $5,061,000) 

and $554,000 (2009: $2,442,000), respectively, which bear interest at rates ranging from 8.0% - 18.0% (2009: 6.8% - 18.0%) 
per annum, all other amounts are interest free.

 Amounts are unsecured and expected to be settled in cash and inter-company settlement within the next twelve months. 
The non-trade balances and transactions mainly relate to loans and payments made on behalf of the associated companies.

 During the financial year, the Group has obtained quoted equity instrument that is listed in a foreign stock exchange as 
collateral for amounts due from a certain associated company of $3.3 million (2009: $5.2 million). Under the terms and 
conditions of this arrangement, the Group will release the collateral upon receipt of outstanding debt within six months from

 issuance of the equity instrument to the Group. Should the Group fail to receive the outstanding debt by the sixth month 
from issuance of the equity instrument, the Group is permitted to dispose the collateral and can further call on the guarantee 
for any shortfall arising from the disposal of the collateral. The fair value of the collateral is approximately $3.7 million 
(2009: $5.3 million).

 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

       
 Amounts due from associated
    companies – nominal amounts  5,050 – 1,117 –
 Less: Allowance for impairment  (1,712)  –  (563)  –
  
  3,338  –  554  –

 Movement in allowance accounts:
    At 1 January  –  –  –  –
    Charge for the financial year  1,712  –  563  –

 At 31 December  1,712  –  563  –
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22. Amounts due from related parties

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 Non-trade 2,170 2,206

 Amounts due from a related party are unsecured, interest-free and expected to be settled in cash and inter-company settlement 
within the next twelve months. The balances in 2010 and 2009 mainly relate to advances by the Group and payments made 
on behalf of the related parties, respectively.

23. Asset held for sale/disposal group classified as held for sale

 During the financial year, the Company announced the decision of its board of directors to dispose the following assets:

 (a)  Disposal of PT Gasuma Federal Indonesia (“PT Gasuma”)

  In 2009, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary company, Federal Hardware Engineering Co. Pte Ltd  
 entered into a Head of Agreement to dispose of its 60% owned subsidiary company, PT Gasuma, which was  
 previously reported in the Energy and Utilities segment. The agreement was subsequently amended on 24 January  
 2011. Following the approval from Indonesian Ministry of Law and Human Rights, the disposal of PT Gasuma has  
 been completed on 11 March 2011 (Note 52).

 (b) Disposal of vessel

  Management had engaged in active discussion with a third party purchaser for the sale of the Group’s vessel Federal I 
 in 2010. On 24 March 2011, the sale has completed after due approval of shareholders for the disposal during 
 the Extraordinary General Meeting on 16 March 2011 (Note 52).

 (c) Disposal of PT Binaguna Adi Sejahtera (“PT Binaguna”)

  On 29 January 2010, the Company announced a share purchase agreement entered into via PT Fedsin Rekayasa  
 Pratama, a subsidiary company, for the sale of its entire 20% interest in its associated company, PT Binaguna. The  
 disposal of PT Binaguna was completed during the financial year.

 The disposals are in line with the Group’s strategy to divest the Group’s interest in certain projects and subsidiary companies 
and the proceeds of which will be used to repay bank loans and improve working capital.

 As at 31 December 2010, the assets and liabilities related to PT Gasuma and the carrying value of the vessel have been 
presented in the balance sheet as “Assets held for sale (include disposal group)” and “Liabilities directly associated with 
disposal group classified as held for sale”.
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23. Asset held for sale/disposal group classified as held for sale (cont’d)

 Balance sheet disclosures

 The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2010 are as follows:
     

   Group
  2010  2009   

 $’000       $’000
   
 Assets:   
 Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 9,873 10,721
 Other receivables 1,890 1,826
 Deferred tax asset (Note 15) – 225
 Cash and cash equivalents (Note 43) 24 26

  11,787 12,798

 
Liabilities:

 Trade and other payables  3,248  3,974
 Provisions (Note 32)  70  76
 Income tax payable  29  31
  
  3,347  4,081
 
 Net assets directly associated with disposal group
     classified as held for sale 8,440 8,717

  
 Carrying amount of PT Binaguna  –  194
 
 Carrying amount of vessel (Note 6)  24,728  –

 2009 
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24. Trade and other payables

 Trade payables

 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30-90 days’ terms.

 Other payables

 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

       
 Accruals  11,102  7,364  860  1,327
 Social security tax payable and
    welfare expense payable  72 177  –  –
 Consideration for a disposed
    subsidiary company payable to
    previous non-controlling interest  618 641  618  641
 Loans from directors  688  3,329  –  –
 Collections received on behalf of
    purchaser of disposed subsidiary company  – 6,836  –  –
 Dividends of subsidiary company
    received on behalf of other non-controlling
    interest  522 522  522  522
 Advance from disposal of
    subsidiary company  – 1,693  –  –
 Sundry creditors  4,582  2,394  187  –
 Accrual for foreign tax liabilities  2,885  3,100  –  –
 Loan from third parties  1,925  –  –  –
 Advances from customer  104  –  –  –
 Consideration for disposal of a
    subsidiary company pending
    completion  259 259  –  –

  22,757  26,315  2,187  2,490

 Other payables except for loan from third parties, are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30 – 90 days’ terms.
 The third party loans bear an interest rate of 12% p.a.
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25. Gross amount due from/(to) customers for construction work-in-progress

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 Aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognised
     profits (less recognised losses) to date 3,032 766
 Less: Progress billings (2,775) (4,500)

  257 (3,734)

   
 Presented as:   
 Gross amount due from customer for contract work 257  287
 Gross amount due to customer for contact work  –  (4,021)
  257  (3,734)

26. Amounts due to subsidiary companies

 Amounts due to subsidiary companies are non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free, and expected to be settled in cash 
and inter-company settlement within the next twelve months.

 The non-trade balance mainly relates to payments made on behalf of the Company by the subsidiary companies.

27. Amounts due to associated companies

 Amounts due to associated companies are trade-related, unsecured, interest-free, and expected to be settled in cash and 
inter-company settlement within the next twelve months.

28. Amounts due to related parties

 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

       
Non-trade 2,162  2,296  –  –

 
 Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free, and expected to be settled in cash and inter-company settlement 

within the next twelve months. The non-trade balances relate to payments made on behalf of the Group by related parties.
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29. Amounts due to bankers

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 Bank overdrafts, secured 3,035 4,142
 Bank overdrafts, unsecured (Note 43) 3,007 4,549
 Trust receipts and bills payable, secured 10,065 30,876
 Trust receipts and bills payable, unsecured 5,515 1,625

  21,622 41,192

   
 Bank overdrafts (secured and unsecured)

 Bank overdrafts of approximately $628,000 (2009: $320,000), $596,000 (2009: $1,338,000) and $4,817,000 
(2009: $7,033,000) denominated in Great Britian Pound (GBP), United States Dollar (USD) and SGD, respectively, bear 
interest at 1.0% - 6.0% (2009: 2.0% -7.5%) per annum (“p.a.”) and are repayable on demand.

 Trust receipts and bills payable (secured and unsecured)

 Trust receipts and bills payable of approximately $997,000 (2009: $6,175,000), $5,476,000 (2009: $26,192,000), $114,000 
(2009: $36,000) and $1,262,000 (2009: $98,000) denominated in SGD, USD, Euro (EUR) and GBP, respectively, bear interest 
at 1.0% -6.75% (2009: 1.0% - 10.3%) p.a.

 Securities and corporate guarantees

 Bank overdrafts, trust receipts and bills payable of certain subsidiary companies are secured by legal mortgages on the 
Group’s leasehold buildings and plant and machinery (Note 6).
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30. Term loans
   Group   Company
  2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000   $’000 $’000 $’000

   (Restated)  (Restated) 

    
 Amounts repayable
    within one year
 -  secured   50,157  57,643    15,169 –  –
 -  unsecured    8,413  22,842    20,304  –  3,483

     58,570  80,485    35,473 –  3,483
 Amounts repayable
    after one year but not
    more than five years
 -  secured    20,141  11,662    60,760  –  –
 -  unsecured    10,032  22,262    –  –  –

     30,173  33,924    60,760  –  –
 Amounts repayable
    after five years
 -  secured    272  2,179    1,014  –  –
 -  unsecured    –  296    –  –  –

     272  2,475    1,014  –  –

 Total term loans   89,015  116,884    97,247  –  3,483

 
 During the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the Company reclassified the term loans of $10,913,000 
 (2009: $11,410,000) (2008: $1,863,000) from non-current liabilities to current liabilities, due to classification of  
 callable term loan.

 In addition to the basic loan terms and specific clauses defining default events, the above term loans also include  
 an overriding repayment on demand clause which gives the lender the right to demand repayment at any time at their  
 sole discretion irrespective of whether a default event has occurred. The term loans were not scheduled for repayment  
 within twelve months after the end of the reporting period. As such, the bank loans were classified as non-current 
 liabilities as at 31 December 2008 and 2009 based on the scheduled repayment dates in the loan facility agreements.
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30. Term loans (cont’d)

 In December 2010, the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore issued guidance on classification of callable 
term loan (guidance). The guidance clarified that callable term loans should be classified as current in their entirety in the 
balance sheet as the entity does not have the unconditional right as at the reporting date to defer settlement for at least 
twelve months after the reporting date. Accordingly, the Company reclassified the above term loans to current liabilities. 
The reclassification has no effect on the net asset or the results of the Company.

 Financial covenants

 During the financial year, the Group has breached certain threshold set forth in its financial covenants of term loans extended 
by a bank in relation to the required minimum tangible networth and other financial ratio. The non-current portion of the 
term loans totaling $10,396,000 (2009: $34,824,000) has been presented as current liabilities at the end of the reporting 
period. Subsequent to year end, a letter of waiver was given by the bank.

 SGD bank loans at banks’ cost of funds + variable rates

 Loans of $3,000,000 are secured by a legal mortgage on one of the Group’s leasehold building (Note 6) and a corporate  
 guarantee provided by the Company (Note 45) and is repayable within one month to four months. These loans bear interest 
at 1.69% - 3.18%.

 SGD bank loans at banks’ cost of fund + variable rates

 Loans of $5,049,000 (2009: $Nil) is secured by a legal mortgage on one of the Group’s freehold land and building (Note 6) 
and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company (Note 45) and is repayable in August 2015. These loans bear interest 
at 2.7% (2009:Nil%).

 5% p.a. fixed rate SGD bank loan

 Loan of $1,416,000 (2009: $2,019,000) is secured by a legal mortgage on one of the Group’s leasehold building and a 
corporate guarantee provided by the Company (Note 45). The loan is repayable in monthly instalments commencing March 
2009 to February 2013.

 5% p.a. fixed rate SGD bank loan

 Loan of $1,416,000 (2009 :$2,019,000) is unsecured but a corporate guarantee is provided by the Company (Note 45). 
The loan is repayable in monthly instalments commencing March 2009 to February 2013.

 5% p.a. fixed rate SGD bank loan

 Loan of $286,000 (2009: $946,000) is unsecured but a corporate guarantee is provided by the Company (Note 45). The 
loan is repayable in monthly instalments commencing from May 2009 through April 2011.
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30. Term loans (cont’d)

 SGD bank loan at 12% - 15% (2009: 15% - 20%) p.a. or 40% of EBIT of the project whichever is higher thereafter

 Loan of $9,000,000 (2009: $9,000,000) is unsecured but a corporate guarantee is provided by the Company (Note 45). 
The loan relates to a project financing which is repayable in March 2013 in one lump sum. For the first year, the subsidiary 
company shall pay interest on a quarterly basis after the first interest payment. After which, the interest is repayable on a 
half yearly basis.

 SGD bank loan at 8.52% p.a or 15% of gross profit of inventory sold, whichever is higher

 Loan of $10,000,000 (2009: $10,000,000) is secured by a floating charge over inventory (Note 16). The Company and a 
subsidiary company have provided a corporate guarantee in favour of a certain subsidiary company which has undertaken 
this inventory financing scheme (Note 45). The loan is repayable from October 2010 to November 2011 upon collection of 
proceeds from the sale of the inventory to third party customers via another subsidiary company which is the consignee of 
the inventory. The interest payable is either 8.52% on the outstanding loan or 15.0% of the gross profit after direct expenses 
of the inventory sold to third party via another subsidiary company, whichever is higher.

 SGD bank loan at 8.52% p.a. or 15% of gross profit of inventory sold, whichever is higher

 Loan of $5,000,000 (2009: $Nil) is secured by a floating charge over inventory (Note 16). The Company and a subsidiary 
company have provided a corporate guarantee in favour of a certain subsidiary company which has undertaken this inventory 
financing scheme (Note 45). The loan which is repayable on March 2011 had been fully settled subsequent to year end.

 SGD bank loan at 8.52% p.a. or 15% of gross profit of inventory sold, whichever is higher

 Loan of $7,000,000 (2009: $Nil) is secured by a floating charge over inventory (Note 16). The Company and a subsidiary 
company have provided a corporate guarantee in favour of a certain subsidiary company which has undertaken this 
inventory financing scheme (Note 45). The loan is repayable by December 2012 or earlier, upon collection of proceeds from 
the sale of the inventory to third party customers via another subsidiary company which is the consignee of the inventory. 
The interest payable is 8.52% per annum.

 USD bank loan at SIBOR + 1.5% p.a.

 Loan of $6,196,000 (US$4,790,000) (2009: $7,865,000 (US$5,600,000)) is secured by a pledge over the Group’s anchor 
handling tug and corporate guarantee provided by the Company (Note 45) and the other minority shareholder in proportion 
to the interest held in the subsidiary company. The loan is repayable in monthly instalments commencing from January 
2010 through November 2016. Subsequent to year end, the loan had been fully repaid as the charter hire contract was 
terminated in late 2010 (Note 14).

 USD bank loan at SIBOR + 1.75% p.a.

 Loan of $8,980,000 (US$6,942,000) (2009: $23,174,000 (US$16,500,000)) is secured by a pledge over the Group’s other 
vessel and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company (Note 45). The loan is repayable in 35 equal instalments and 
a final instalment of $7,169,000 (US$5,542,000) in August 2011.
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30. Term loans (cont’d)

 4.75% p.a. fixed rate SGD bank loan

 Loan of $542,000 (2009: $640,000) is secured by a first mortgage over one of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings 
(Note 6) and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company (Note 45). The loan is repayable in monthly instalments 
beginning from June 2008 through to January 2016.

 4.0% - 4.5% p.a. fixed rate.SGD bank loan

 Loan of $1,469,000 (2009: $1,678,000) is secured by a first mortgage over one of the Group’s leasehold land and building 
(Note 6) and corporate guarantee provided by the Company (Note 45). Repayment of this loan is in an arrangement of 
monthly instalments beginning from February 2007 to December 2016.

 5% fixed rate SGD bank loan

 Loan of $2,292,000 (2009: $Nil) is secured by a corporate guarantee by the Company. The loan is repayable in monthly 
instalments of $90,000 commencing from April 2010 to March 2013.

 5% p.a. fixed rate SGD bank loan

 Loan of $1,314,000 (2009: $1,948,000) is unsecured but a corporate guarantee is provided by the Company (Note 45). 
The loan is repayable in monthly instalments commencing from December 2009 through November 2012.

 USD bank loans at SIBOR + 1.75% p.a.

 Loans of $6,552,000 (US$5,065,000) (2009: $11,855,000 (US$8,441,000)) are secured by a pledge over one of the Group’s 
vessels and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company (Note 45). The loans are repayable in monthly instalments 
commencing from July 2006 through to June 2012. Subsequent to year end, the loans are fully repaid following the 
completion of sale of the vessel (Note 52).

 SGD bank loan at bank’s cost of fund + 1.25% p.a.

 Loan of $6,640,000 (2009: $9,630,000) is secured by a fixed charge over all machineries and equipment of the Co 
Generation facility plant under finance lease arrangement (Note 14) and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company 
(Note 45). The loan is repayable in 59 equal instalments and a final instalment of $430,000 is due in April 2013.

 RMB bank loan at China Central Bank base interest rate + 1.728%

 Loan of $7,809,000 (RMB 40,000,000) (2009: RMB 40,000,000) is unsecured but a corporate guarantee is provided by 
Panzhihua Jiangren Va-Ti Co Ltd which is a government linked entity in China. The loan is repayable in October 2014.

 5.31% p.a. fixed rate RMB bank loan

 This loan of $957,000 (RMB 4,900,000) which is repayable on August 2011 is unsecured but a guarantee is provided by 
a financial institution which is secured by a property being pledged by the other minority shareholder.
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30. Term loans (cont’d)

 GBP bank loan at Bank of England base rate + 0.5% p.a.

 Loan of $1,664,000 (£829,000) (2009: $2,018,000 (£894,000)) is secured by a corporate guarantee by the Company 
(Note 45) and is repayable in monthly instalments commencing from June 2008 through May 2023.

 GBP bank loan at Bank of England base rate + 3.75% p.a.

 Loan of $695,000 (£349,000) (2009: $Nil) is secured by a corporate guarantee by the Company and is repayable in monthly 
instalments commencing from December 2010.

 GBP bank loan at Bank of England base rate + 3.75% p.a.

 Loan of $338,000 (£169,000) (2009: $Nil) is secured by a corporate guarantee by the Company and is repayable in monthly 
instalments commencing from December 2010.

 12% fixed rate SGD bank loan

 Loan of $1,400,000 (2009: $Nil) is unsecured but a corporate guarantee is jointly provided by the Company and the other 
minority shareholder. The loan is repayable in April 2011.

 SGD bank loans at banks’ cost of funds + variable rates

 Prior year loan of $300,000 has been repaid during the financial year. The loan was secured by a legal mortgage on one of 
the Group’s leasehold building (Note 6) and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company (Note 45) and is repayable 
within one month.

 3.5% p.a. fixed rate SGD bank loan

 Prior year loan of $299,650 had been repaid during the financial year. The loan was unsecured but a corporate guarantee 
was provided by the Company (Note 45). The loan had no fixed repayment terms.

 USD bank loan at SIBOR + 2.0% p.a.

 Prior year loan of $3,483,000 (US$2,480,000) which was unsecured was fully repaid during the financial year with the 
proceeds of part of the consideration of the disposal of the subsidiary company and related assets.

 SGD bank loans at banks’ cost of fund + 2.0% p.a.

 Prior year loan of $15,300,000 was secured by a fixed charge over plant and machinery (Note 6) and a corporate guarantee 
provided by the Company (Note 45). The outstanding loan amount had been fully repaid during the financial year with the 
proceeds of part of the consideration of the disposal of the subsidiary company and related assets.
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30. Term loans (cont’d)

 USD bank loans at banks’ cost of funds to variable rates

 Prior year loan of $2,360,000 (US$1,680,000) which was secured by a legal mortgage on one of the Group’s leasehold 
building and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company (Note 45) was fully repaid during the financial year.

 7% p.a. fixed rate SGD loan

 Prior year loan of $1,210,000 had been repaid during the financial year. The loan was unsecured but a corporate guarantee 
was provided by the Company (Note 45). 

 USD bank loan at US$ prime + 1% p.a.

 Prior year loan of $4,097,000 (US$2,917,000) had been repaid during the financial year. The loan was unsecured but a 
corporate guarantee was provided by the Company (Note 45).
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31. Hire purchase creditors

 The effective interest rates of these leases range between 4.9% and 7.1% (2009: 5.0% and 19.14%) per annum.

    Present  Present
   Minimum value of Minimum value of 

Group  payments payments payments payments
   2010 2010 2009 2009 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Within one year   2,104  2,024  2,740  2,521
 After one year but not more
    than five years   385 373 2,396 2,315

 Total minimum lease payments   2,489  2,397  5,136  4,836
 Less: amounts representing
    finance charges   (92) – (300) –

 Present value of
    minimum payments   2,397 2,397 4,836 4,836

 The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment held under hire purchases at the end of the reporting period was 
$7,691,000 (2009 : $9,260,000) (Note 6).
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32. Provision for post employment benefits

 The Group recognised employment benefits for all its permanent employees, in the Republic of Indonesia, who reached 
the retirement age of 55 pursuant to Indonesian Labor Law No. 13/2003 (“LL No. 13/2003”) in respect of two subsidiary 
companies. A significant portion of the provision for employment benefits is based on the calculation of an independent 
actuary.

 The provision is determined using the “Projected Unit Credit” method in calculating the present value obligation and current 
service cost. The assumptions used in determining the employment benefits up to the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:

 Discount rate  : 8-10.5%
 Annual salary increase : 10%
 Mortality   : 100% (TM I-2)

 The Group provides benefits for its employees based on the provisions of LL No. 13/2003. The benefits are unfunded. The 
components of net employee benefits expense recognised in the income statement and amounts recognised in the balance 
sheet for the employee benefits liability are as follows:

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 At 1 January  17  81
 Arose during the financial year  –  13
 Attributable to disposal group classified as held for sale
   (Note 23)  – (76)
 Exchange differences  2  (1)

 At 31 December  19  17

 Management believes that the provision for post-employment benefits is adequate to cover liability of employee benefits 
based on LL No. 13/2003.
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33. Share capital

 Group and Company
   2010 2010 2009 2009
    No. of  No. of
   ordinary  ordinary
   shares  shares
    000 $’000  ’000 $’000

       
 Issued and fully paid ordinary shares    

 
 At 1 January   475,884  94,929  314,823  79,208
 Issuance of ordinary shares   62,965  9,001  –  –
 Issuance of rights shares   377,194  29,694  158,628  15,101
 Shares issued in lieu of dividends (Note 44)  –  –  2,433  620

 At 31 December   916,043  133,624  475,884  94,929

 On 1 November 2010, the Company has also issued and allotted 377,194,378 new ordinary shares (“rights shares”) at an 
issue price of 8 cents for each rights share on the basis of seven rights shares for every ten existing shares in the capital of 
the Company.

 On 31 March 2010, the Company had issued and allotted 62,964,665 new ordinary shares in the capital pursuant to the 
subscription agreement.

 On 17 September 2009, the Company had also issued and allotted 158,628,149 new ordinary shares (“rights shares”) at 
an issue price of 10 cents for each rights share on the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares in the capital 
of the Company.

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares 
carry one vote per share without restriction. The ordinary shares have no par value.

34. Foreign currency translation reserve

 The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 
of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency. 

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

    
 At 1 January  (2,399)  (1,133)
 Net effect of exchange differences arising from translation of
    financial statements of foreign operations  (233) (1,266)

 At 31 December  (2,632)  (2,399)
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35. Capital reserve

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 At 1 January  2,775  2,773
 Adjustment for share of other reserves of an associated company  3 2

 At 31 December  2,778  2,775

 The capital reserve relates mainly to an adjustment for changes in an associated company’s equity arising from capital 
enlargement in 2006.

36. Revaluation reserve

 The revaluation reserve represents increases in the fair value of freehold and leasehold land and buildings and decreases to 
the extent that such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset previously recognised in equity.

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 
 At 1 January and 31 December  1,030 1,030 

37. Other reserves

 (a) Hedging reserve

  Hedging reserve records the portion of the fair value changes on derivative financial instruments that are designated 
as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges that is determined to be effective.

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
  At 1 January  –  352
  Net gain on fair value changes taken to
        profit or loss upon expiry of contracts  – (352)
 
  At 31 December  –  –
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37. Other reserves (cont’d)

 (b) Statutory reserve fund

  In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law applicable to the subsidiary companies in the PRC, the subsidiary 
company is required to make appropriation to a Statutory Reserve Fund (“SRF”). At least 10% of the statutory after 
tax profits as determined in accordance with the applicable PRC accounting standards and regulations must be 
allocated to the SRF until the cumulative total of the SRF reaches 50% of the subsidiary company registered capital. 
Subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities, the SRF may be used to offset any accumulated losses 
or increase the registered capital of the subsidiary company. The SRF is not available for dividend distribution to 
shareholders.

38. Revenue

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000   

  (Restated)

   
 Sale of products and installation  118,653  159,906
 Provision for services  921  15,568
 Service concession revenue  10,145  18,974
 Charter hire income  12,543  20,182
 Service and maintenance  –  73
 Sale of coal  32,233  6,914
 Interest income  3,684  1,308
 Management fee income  126  168
 Sale of tugboat  1,570  1,655
 Consultancy service  196  1,736

  180,071  226,484
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39. Other income and expenses

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 Other income
 Share of profits from partnership 102  65
 Loss on disposal of investment in a subsidiary company  –  (1,905)
 Gain on disposal of investment in an associated company  187  –
 Gain on liquidation of investment in associated companies  32  –
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  –  12,057
 Sundry income  733  252
 Interest on income from bank and fixed deposits  11  15
 Interest on trade overdues  236  (90)
 Interest on loan to associated companies  648  1,249
 Commission and agency fee income  208  860
 Grant income from jobs credit scheme *  34  411

  2,191  12,914

 * The Group received cash grant on the first $2,500 of each month’s wages for each employee on their Central Provident  
 Fund payroll under a Jobs Credit Scheme introduced in the Singapore Budget 2009.

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 Cost of sales
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  5,390  6,318
 
 Selling and distribution costs

 Allowance for/(reversal of) obsolete inventories (Note 16)  945  (270)
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  237  2,223
 (Gain)/loss on exchange difference
 -  realised  (2,960)  1,823
 -  unrealised  4,255  1,082
 Research and development costs  259  164
 Staff costs (including directors)
 -  salaries and other emoluments  5,306  5,997
 -  defined pension contributions  309  395
 Project acquisition costs  –  4,474
 Impairment loss on doubtful receivables  22,838  3,828
 Claim from a customer  393  –
 Impairment loss on recoverable  1,966  –
 (Reversal of)/bad debts written off  (186)  11,152
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39. Other income and expenses (cont’d)

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

 Administrative and general costs   

 Amortisation of intangible assets  38  55
 Amortisation of other assets  –  954
 Amortisation of deferred expenditure  –  1,073
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  743  1,312
 (Gain)/loss on exchange difference
 - realised  (737)  152
 - unrealised  3,418  36
 Gain on fair value adjustment of forward
    currency contracts and interest rate swap  – (1,433)
 Staff costs (including directors)
 - salaries and other emoluments  5,248  6,022
 - defined pension contributions  350  310
 Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  11,898  2,809
 Impairment loss on other asset  –  11,902
 Impairment loss on recoverable  626  –
 Write off of investment in an associated company  51  36
 Property, plant and equipment written off  –  2
 Overseas value added and withholding taxes  293  1,693
 Annual taxes on crew wages  219  2,084
 Impairment loss on doubtful receivables  7,309  2
 Bad debts written off  587  –

 Other operating expenses   
   
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  583  –
 Dry-docking cost write off  4,092  –
 Vessel related expenses  3,251  –
 Claim from a supplier  1,293  –

 Finance costs

 Interest expense on :
 - Bank overdrafts  235  446
 - Hire purchase  511  331
 - Term loans  4,693  4,832
 - Trust receipts  534  2,217
 - Implicit interest –  519
 - Bankers acceptance  343  –

  6,316  8,345
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 The breakdown of employee benefits expense (including directors) is as follows:

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 Salaries and bonuses  10,554  12,025
 Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans including:
    Central Provident Fund  659  705
    Post employment benefits  –  (6)

  11,213  12,724

41. Income tax (credit)/expense

 The major components of income tax (credit)/expense for the financial years ended 31 December are:

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000    

  (Restated)

 Statement of comprehensive income      
 Current income tax
    - Current income taxation  118  2,688
    - Overprovision in respect of previous years  (10)  (1,392)

  108  1,296

 Deferred income tax
    - Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (169)  2,028
    - Effect of reduction in tax rate  –  2

  (169)  2,030

 Income tax (credit)/expense recognised in profit or loss (61) 3,326

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010
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 Relationship between average effective tax rate and applicable corporate tax rate
 
 The reconciliation between the average effective tax rate (i.e. tax expense/(income) divided by the accounting loss before 

tax) and the applicable corporate tax rate for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

 Reconciliation of corporate tax rate to average effective tax rate
 
   Group
  2010 2009
  % %    

    (Restated)

      
 Corporate tax rate  (17.0)  (17.0)
 Adjustments:
    Non-deductible expenses  10.1 26.0
    Income not subject to taxation  (0.2)  (5.0)
    Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets  (0.8)  (2.7)
    Deferred tax assets not recognised  10.4  21.8
    Effect of partial tax exemption  (0.1)  (0.8)
    Effects of difference in foreign subsidiary companies’ tax rate  (1.1)  (2.9)
    (Under)/overprovision in respect of previous years  (1.3)  0.2
    Others  (0.1) 0.2

  (0.1)  19.8

 The corporate tax rate is that of the Singapore corporate tax rate as the Group has a significant exposure to the Singapore 
tax and the impact of the corporate tax rate applicable to foreign subsidiary is insignificant.

 The corporate tax rate applicable to foreign subsidiary companies of the Group are from 22.0% to 30.0% for the year of 
assessment 2010 onwards.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010
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42. Loss per share

 Basic loss per share are calculated by dividing loss, net of tax, attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

 Diluted loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing loss, net of tax attributable to owners of the parent (after adjusting 
for dividends) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year plus the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into 
ordinary shares.

 As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

 The following tables reflect the profit and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted loss per share for the 
financial years ended 31 December:

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 Loss net of tax attributable to owners of the parent
    used in the computation of loss per share  (54,511) (12,124)
 

  ’000  ’000

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
    loss per share computation # 585,974 420,382

 #  The weighted average number of shares takes into account the weighted average effect of changes in movements  
  of the share capital relating to the issuance of new shares and rights shares during the financial year as disclosed in  
  Note 33.

No. of
shares

No. of
shares



Federal International (2000) Ltd • Annual Report 2010

129

Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010

43. Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and bank balances and fixed deposits earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Fixed deposits 
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the 
Group, and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates.

 For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at the end of 
the reporting period: 

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000                
 
 Cash and bank balances and fixed deposits  26,335  14,716
 Attributable to assets of disposal group classified as
    held for sale (Note 23)  24 26
 Bank overdrafts (unsecured) (Note 29)  (3,007)  (4,549)
 Deposit (pledged)  (4,568)  –
 
 Cash and cash equivalents  18,784  10,193

 The deposit is pledged for the banking facility granted to a subsidiary company of the Group in the PRC (Note 29).

 Disposal of a subsidiary company

 On 30 December 2009, a subsidiary company disposed of its 65% interest in Geo Link Nusantara Pte Ltd (“GLN”) for a cash 
consideration of approximately $830,000 (US$592,000). The disposal consideration was fully settled in cash.

 The value of assets and liabilities of GLN recorded in the consolidated financial statements as at 30 December 2009, and 
the cash flow effect of the disposal were:

   Group
   2009
   $’000

 Property, plant and equipment (Note 6)   5,583
 Amount due from related parties  10,211
 Other current assets   1,951
 Cash and cash equivalents   43

   17,788
 Trade and other payables   (11,743)
 Amount due to related parties   (1,294)
 Income tax payable   (543)
 
 Carrying value of net assets   4,208
 Less: Non-controlling interest   (1,473)
 
   2,735
 Loss on disposal   (1,905)
 
 Total cash consideration   830
 Cash and cash equivalents   (43)
 
 Net cash flow on disposal of subsidiary company   787

 The amount due from related parties includes an amount of $4,934,000 which relates to reimbursement of deferred 
expenditure (Note 19).
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44. Dividends

  Group and Company
    2010 2009
     $’000 $’000

 
 Declared and paid during the year :   
 Dividends on ordinary shares :   
    Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2008: (1) 0.50 cents    –  1,574

 (1) In respect of the final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2008, shareholders entitled to dividends may elect to receive either  
 cash or an allotment of ordinary shares in the Company credited as fully paid in lieu of cash pursuant to the scrip  
 dividend scheme. On 28 July 2009, the Company issued and allotted 2,432,970 new ordinary shares at an issue  
 price of 25.5 cents per share arising from the scrip dividend scheme.

45. Commitments and contingencies

 Capital commitments

 Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial statements are 
as follows:

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 Capital commitment in respect of property, plant and
    equipment under construction  4,052 23,432
 Balance consideration in respect of purchases of an
    anchor handling tug and tugboats  6,300 7,110
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45. Commitments and contingencies (cont’d)

 Operating lease commitments - lessee

 The Group leases certain plant and equipment under lease agreements that are non-cancellable within a year. These leases 
have an average life of between 1 to 36 years with no escalation clauses included in the contracts. Certain leases include 
a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an annual basis based on prevailing market conditions.

 Certain leases contain renewal options. There were no contingent rent provision included in contracts. There are no restrictions 
placed upon the Group by entering into these leases. Operating lease expenses incurred for the current financial year 
amounted to approximately $806,000 (2009: $703,000).

 Future minimum lease payments for all non-cancellable leases at the end of the reporting period are as follows:-

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 Not later than one year  424  649
 Later than one year but not later than five years  1,245  985
 Later than five years  5,469  5,633

  7,138  7,267

 Operating lease commitments - lessor

 The Group entered into charter hire leases on for a certain vessel with third party under an agreement that is non-cancellable 
within a year. This agreement has a remaining life of 5 years with no escalation clauses included in the contracts. Following 
the completion of the sale of the vessel, Federal I on 24 March 2011, the third party has also consented to the assignment 
of the charter agreement to the purchaser of the vessel.

 Future minimum rentals receivable for the non-cancellable lease arrangement at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:-

  Group
  2010 2009
  $’000 $’000

   
 Not later than one year  –  11,275
 Later than one year but not later than five years  –  45,100
 Later than five years  –  14,704

  –  71,079
 Contingent liability

 Guarantees

 The Group and the Company have provided corporate guarantees of $103.0 million (2009:$376.6 million) to financial 
institutions and third parties in relation to certain subsidiary companies’ bank facilities or business transactions, as well 
as, on behalf of a third party. In respect of guarantees extended to third parties of $6.9 million (2009: $4.9 million) by the 
Group, it comprised corporate guarantees and  banker’s guarantees or performance bonds extended to certain subsidiary 
companies’ suppliers and customers.
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46. Fair value of financial instruments

 A. Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value
  
  Fair value hierarchy

  The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs  
 used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

  • Level 1- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

  • Level 2- Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,  
  either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and

  •  Level 3- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

  The Group does not have any financial instrument that is carried at fair value as at end of the reporting period.

 B. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are  
 reasonable approximation of fair value

  The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities including current trade and other receivables and payables,  
 cash and cash equivalents, amounts due to bankers and amounts due from/to subsidiary/associated companies  
 and related parties are reasonable approximation of fair values, either due to their short-term nature or that they are  
 floating rate instruments that are repriced to market interest rates on or near the end of the reporting period.

  The carrying amount of floating rate loans approximate fair value as the loans are repriced within 1 to 6 months from  
 the end of the reporting period.

  The carrying amounts of financial assets including non-current trade and other receivables are also reasonable  
 approximation of fair values due to expectation of earlier settlement of debts in view of the improved economic  
 environment.
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46. Fair value of financial instruments (cont’d)

 C. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are not 
reasonable approximation of fair value

  The fair value of financial assets and liabilities by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value are as follows:

  2010 2009
    Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
  Group  amount Value amount Value
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  Financial assets:     
  Investment in partnership, at cost  20  *  20  *
  Lease receivables  –  –  9,440  18,981

  Financial liabilities:
  Loans and borrowings (non-current)**
     - Hire purchase creditors   (373)  (342)  (2,315)  (2,396)
     - Fixed rate term loans   (18,477)  (21,801)  (4,872)  (5,285)

  *  Fair value information has not been disclosed for the Group’s investment in equity instruments that are  
 carried at cost because fair value cannot be measured reliably. The equity instrument represents ordinary  
 shares in a Brunei partnership entity that is not quoted on any market and does not have any comparable  
 industry peer that is listed. The Group does not intend to dispose of this investment in the foreseeable future.

  ** The fair values of fixed rate term loans and hire purchase creditors as disclosed in the table above are  
 estimated by discounting expected future cash flows at market incremental lending rate for similar types of  
 lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at the end of the reporting period.

 Intra-group financial guarantees

 The value of financial guarantees provided by the Group and Company to its subsidiary companies is determined by 
reference to the difference in the interest rates, by comparing the actual rates charged by the bank with these guarantees 
made available, with the estimated rates that the banks would have charged had these guarantees not been available. The 
Directors have assessed the fair value of these financial guarantees to have no material financial impact on the results and 
the revenue reserves of the Group for the financial years ended 31 December 2009 and 2010.
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47. Financial risk management objectives and policies

 The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. 
The key financial risks comprise credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The board of directors 
reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which are executed by the Chief Financial 
Officer. The Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process.

 The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial 
risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

 There has been no change to the Group‘s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures 
these risks.

 (a) Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on  
 its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other  
 receivables. For other financial assets (including other investment, amount due from subsidiary companies, associated  
 companies and related parties, fixed deposits and cash and bank balances and financial and lease receivables), the  
 Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

  The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit  
 risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all  
 customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable  
 balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to reduce the Group’s exposure to bad debt. For transactions that do  
 not occur in the country of the relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the approval  
 of the Directors. Trade receivables are arranged to be settled via letters of credits issued by reputable banks in  
 countries where the customers are based for first-time customers who wish to trade on credit terms in order to  
 mitigate heightened credit risks arising from revenue growth strategies.

  Exposure to credit risk

  At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by:

  - the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheets, and

  - $103.0 million (2009: $376.6 million) relating to corporate guarantees provided by the Company and a  
  subsidiary company to financial institutions and third parties for certain subsidiary companies (Note 45).
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47. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (a) Credit risk (cont’d)
 
  Credit risk concentration profile

  The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector profile of its trade 
receivables on an on-going basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables at the balance 
sheet date is as follows:

  Group
  2010 2009
     % of  % of 
    $’000 total $’000 total

  By country: 
  Singapore   10,052  33.2  6,198  12.2
  Italy   –    –  3,832  7.5
  Indonesia   6,008  19.9  29,381  57.8
  Malaysia   1,244  4.1  2,213  4.4
  China   3,839  12.7  2,955  5.8
  UAE   117  0.4  285  0.6
  Canada   752  2.5  –  –
  Vietnam  2,645  8.7  2,496  4.9
  Thailand  1,636  5.4  1,152  2.3
  Others   3,943  13.1  2,311  4.5

    30,236  100.0  50,823  100.0

  By industry sectors:
  Oil and Gas   21,647  71.6  45,597  89.7
  Petrochemical   404  1.3  1,355  2.7
  Marine   4,976  16.5  1,296  2.5
  Others   3,209  10.6  2,575  5.1

    30,236  100.0  50,823  100.0
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47. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (a) Credit risk (cont’d)

  At the end of the reporting period, approximately:

  - 50.9% (2009: 71.3%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from 5 major customers who are from the  
 oil and gas, marine and petrochemical sectors located in the Asia Pacific region, of which 18.9% (2009: 55.7%)  
 were due from the Group’s largest customer; and

  - 11.1% (2009: 8.1%) of the Group’s trade and other receivables were due from related parties while almost  
 all of the Company’s other receivables were balances with related parties.

  Amounts due from a certain associated company to the Group accounted for 81.8% (2009: 79.8%) of the total 
balance of amounts due from associated companies of which 100.0% (2009: 93.2%) was past due but not impaired. 
Based on past experience, management believed that no impairment allowance was necessary in respect of these 
balances as there had not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances were still considered fully 
recoverable.

  Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

  Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment 
record with the Group. Fixed deposit, cash and bank balances and other investment and derivatives that are neither 
past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with high 
credit ratings and no history of default.

  Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

  Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Notes 12 and 13 
(Non current trade and other receivables), Notes 17 and 18 (Current trade and other receivables) and Notes 20 to 
22 (Amounts due from subsidiary companies, associated companies and related parties).

 (b) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due 
to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of 
the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance 
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.
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47. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

  The Group’s and the Company’s liquidity risk management policy is that the maturity of loans and borrowings would 
match that of the estimated future cash flows of the projects and trading activities. The Group maintains sufficient 
liquid financial assets and stand-by credit facilities with 12 different financial institutions. At the end of the reporting 
period, approximately 72.5% (2009: 77.0%) of the Group’s loans and borrowings (Notes 29 and 30) will mature in 
less than one year based on the carrying amount reflected in the financial statements.

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities 
at the end of the financial reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

  2010 2009    
  (Restated)

  1 year 1 to 5 Over  1 year 1 to 5 Over 
 Group or less  years 5 years Total or less years 5 years Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Financial assets:         
 Other investments  –  20  –  20  –  20  –  20
 Trade and other
    receivables  47,502  2,345  –  49,847 99,852  13,188  –  113,040
 Financial and lease
    receivables  3,761  28,055  –  31,816 348  29,172  –  29,520
 Fixed deposit, cash
    and bank balances  26,335  –  –  26,335 14,716  –  –  14,716
 Amounts due from
    associated companies  4,080  –  –  4,080 6,566  –  –  6,566
 Amounts due from
    related parties  2,170  –  –  2,170 2,206  –  –  2,206

 Total undiscounted
    financial assets 83,848  30,420  –  114,268 123,688  42,380  –  166,068

 Financial liabilities:

 Trade and other
    payables 44,725  –  –  44,725 53,105  –  –  53,105
 Amounts due to
    associated companies  125  –  –  125 78  –  –  78
 Amounts due to
    related parties  2,162  –  –  2,162 2,296  –  –  2,296
 Loans and
    borrowings  87,787  34,394  278  122,459 130,414  39,242 –  169,656

 Total undiscounted
    financial liabilities  134,799 34,394  278  169,471 185,893  39,242  –  225,135

 Total net
    undiscounted financial
    (liabilities)/assets (50,951)  (3,974)  (278)  (55,203) (62,205)  3,138  –  (59,067)
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47. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

  2010 2009

  1 year 1 to 5 Over  1 year 1 to 5 Over 
 Company or less  years 5 years Total or less years 5 years Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 
 Financial assets:         

Trade and other
    receivables  63  –  –  63 71  –  –  71
 Amounts due from
    subsidiary
    companies  18,704  –  –  18,704 49,752  –  –  49,752
 Amounts due from
    associated
    companies 1,433  –  –  1,433 2,883  –  –  2,883
 Cash and fixed
    deposits  17,470  –  –  17,470 387  –  –  387

 Total undiscounted
    financial assets  37,670  –  –  37,670 53,093  –  –  53,093

 Financial liabilities:
 Trade and other
    payables  2,187  –  –  2,187 2,643  –  –  2,643
 Amounts due to
    subsidiary
    companies 3,731  –  –  3,731 941  –  –  941
 Term loans  –  –  –  –  3,483  –  –  3,483
 Amounts due from
    associated
    companies  1  –  –  1 –  –  –  –

 Total undiscounted
    financial liabilities  5,919  –  –  5,919 7,067  –  –  7,067
 
 Total net
    undiscounted
    financial assets  31,751  –  –  31,751 46,026  –  –  46,026
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47. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

 The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group and Company’s contingent liabilities and commitments. 
The maximum amount of the financial guarantee contracts are allocated to the earliest period in which the guarantee could 
be called.

  2010 2009

  1 year 1 to 5 Over  1 year 1 to 5 Over 
  or less  years 5 years Total or less years 5 years Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 
 Group         

Financial
    guarantees  6,861  –  –  6,861 14,573  –  –  14,573

 Company
 Financial
    guarantees  103,031  –  –  103,031 376,565  –  –  376,565 

        
  The maximum amount that the Group could be forced under the financial guarantee is $120,050,000 

(2009 : $169,961,000) which relate to the total debts as disclosed in Note 48, corporate guarantees and banker’s 
guarantees or performance bond extended to certain subsidiary companies’ suppliers and customers, as well as, 
a corporate guarantee provided to a bank on behalf of a third party.

  Based on the expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is not likely that any amount 
will be payable.

 (c) Interest rate risk

  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to 
interest rate risk arises primarily from their loans and borrowings and interest-bearing loans given to related parties.

  The Group’s policy is to manage interest cost by using a mix of fixed and floating rate debts. To manage this mix 
in a cost-efficient manner, the Group also enters into interest rate swap in prior year. At the end of the reporting 
period, after taking into account the effect of an interest rate swap, approximately 18.8% (2009: 25.1%) of the 
Group’s borrowings are at fixed rates of interest.

  Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

  At the end of the reporting period, if USD and SGD interest rates had been 32 and 9 (2009: Nil and 50) basis points 
lower, and 11 and 3 (2009: 25 and 100) basis points higher with all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss 
net of tax would have been $100,000 (2009: $123,000) lower and $34,000 (2009: $375,000) higher, arising mainly 
as a result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings. The assumed movement in basis 
points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market environment.
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47. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 (d) Foreign currency risk 

  The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are denominated in a currency 
other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily SGD, USD and GBP. The foreign currencies 
in which these transactions are denominated are mainly USD, EUR, GBP and SGD. Approximately 57.9% (2009: 
54.4%) and 49.7% (2009: 59.6%) of the Group’s sales and cost of sales are denominated in foreign currencies other 
than the functional currencies of the Group entities, respectively. The Group’s trade receivable and trade payable 
balances at the end of the reporting period have similar exposures to the respective foreign currency sales and 
cost of sales.

  The Group and the Company also hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for working 
capital purposes. At the end of the reporting period, such foreign currency balances (mainly in USD and GBP) 
amount to $542,000 (2009: $9,193,000) and $1,094,000 (2009: $213,000) for the Group and the Company, 
respectively.

  Multi-currency transactions are covered by natural hedge. The Group also used forward currency contracts in the 
prior year on ad-hoc basis to eliminate the currency exposures on any individual transaction after the Group had 
entered into a firm commitment for a sale or purchase.

  The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to protect against the volatility associated with its foreign 
currency investment. The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign 
operations, including United States, United Kingdom, Indonesia, the PRC and Thailand. The Group’s investment 
in its Singapore subsidiary companies are hedged by a USD denominated bank loan, which mitigates structural 
currency in exposures arising from the subsidiary companies’ net assets. The Group’s net investments in subsidiary 
in USD, GBP, IDR, RMB and THB functional currency are not hedged as these currencies positions are considered 
to be long-term in nature.

  Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of a reasonably possible change in the USD and GBP exchange 
rates (against SGD), with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit net of tax. 

  Group
  2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

   
  USD     -     strengthened 8.0% (2009: 5.0%)  252  1,519
              -     weakened 10.0% (2009: 5.0%)  (323)  (1,519)

  GBP     -     strengthened 13.0% (2009: 5.0%) (305) (106)
              -     weakened 5.0% (2009: 10.0%)  123 212
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48. Capital management

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain 
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders 
or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 
2009 and 2010.

 As disclosed in Note 37(b), subsidiary companies in the PRC are required by the Foreign Enterprise Law of the PRC to 
contribute to and maintain a non-distributable statutory reserve fund whose utilisation is subject to approval by the relevant 
PRC authorities. This externally imposed capital requirement has been complied with by the above-mentioned subsidiary 
companies for the financial years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debt divided by equity. The Group’s policy is to ensure that 
the gearing ratio do not exceed 2.0. The Group includes within total debts, amounts due to bankers, term loans and hire 
purchase creditors. Equity includes the amount attributable to the owners of the parent less other reserves comprising 
hedging reserve and the statutory reserve fund (Note 37).

  Group
  2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

   
 Amounts due to bankers (Note 29)  21,622  41,192
 Term loans (Note 30)  89,015  116,884
 Hire purchase creditors (Note 31)  2,397  4,836
   
   113,034  162,912

 Equity attributable to the owners of the parent  94,047  110,053
 Less: Other reserves  (263)  (211)

 Total capital  93,784  109,842
 
 Gearing ratio 1.21  1.48
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49. Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities

 Set out below are the carrying amounts of the Group’s and Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are  
 carried on the balance sheets:
 Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000    

  (Restated)  (Restated)

       
 Assets
 
 Trade receivables  30,236  50,823  –  –
 Other receivables  19,611  62,217  63  71
 Deposits  765  879  4  4
 Financial and lease receivables  31,816  29,520  –  –
 Amounts due from subsidiary
    companies  – –  18,704  49,752
 Amounts due from associated
    companies  4,080 6,566  1,433  2,883
 Amounts due from related parties  2,170  2,206  –  –
 Fixed deposits  15,201  402  10,601  –
 Cash and bank balances  11,134  14,314  6,869  387

 Loans and receivables  115,013  166,927  37,674  53,097

 Available-for-sale financial
    assets (Note 11)  20  20  –  –

 Liabilities
 Amounts due to bankers  21,622  41,192  –  –
 Trade payables  21,968  26,790  –  153
 Other payables  22,757  26,315  2,187  2,490
 Amounts due to subsidiary
    companies  –  –  3,731  941
 Amounts due to associated
    companies  125  78  1  –
 Amounts due to related parties  2,162  2,296  –  –
 Term loans  89,015  116,884  –  3,483
 Hire purchase creditors  2,397  4,836  –  –

 Liabilities at amortised cost  160,046  218,391  5,919  7,067
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50. Segment information 

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, and has six 
reportable operating segments as follows:

 I. Trading segment is a supply of assembly and distribution of flowline control products, distribution of oilfield drilling 
equipment for use on onshore and offshore rigs and drilling platforms, provision of complete fire protection and 
detection systems, as well as electrical products for the industrial, marine, coal mining and oil and gas sectors. In 
these respects, the Group offers products and related services in the areas of oil and gas, power, petrochemical 
and pharmaceutical industries.

 II. Manufacturing/Design/Research and Development segment is involved in research, development, design and 
manufacture of flowline control products and high pressure and temperature valves and related oilfield products.

 III. Marine Logistics segment is in the business of chartering of vessels to the offshore oil and gas and other related 
industries.

 IV. Energy and Utilities segment is involved in procurement and construction projects and provision of electricity, 
steam, condensate, LNG and CNG. The segment also includes provision of waste water treatment services to the 
end-users. Included in this segment is a 60% owned subsidiary company, PT Gasuma which has been identified 
as assets of disposal group classified as held for sale as the disposal of PT Gasuma was completed subsequent 
to year as disclosed in Note 23.

 V. Resources segment is in the business of sales and mining of coal and other natural resources.

 VI. Corporate and Others segment is involved in Group level corporate services and treasury functions.

 Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third 
parties.

 Geographical Information

 The Group’s geographical segments are based on the location of the Group’s assets except for the Group’s vessels which 
are not practicable to be allocated based on location due to the nature of the assets. These vessels are allocated based on 
the country of incorporation of the subsidiaries. Sales to external customers disclosed in geographical segments are based 
on the geographical location of its customers. Others include countries such as Japan, Australia, Pakistan, Sudan, India, 
Brunei and Hong Kong.

 Non-current assets information presented consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible asset (excluding goodwill) 
and other asset as presented in the consolidated balance sheet.

 Information about major customers

 Revenue from two major customers amount to $74,995,000 (2009: $58,355,000), arising from sales by the trading segment.
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31 December 2010
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50. Segment information (cont’d)

 Notes:

 A  Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

 B  The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment profit/(loss) to arrive at the segment results.
 
  2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

   
  Interest income from inter-segments  6,725  5,143
  Interest expense from inter-segments  (7,550)  (5,583)
  Unallocated corporate expenses/(income)  (275)  2,605
  Profit from inter-segments operation  54,597  8,369

   53,497  10,534

 C  Impairment loss on non-financial assets consists of:-
  2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

   
  Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  11,898  2,809
  Impairment loss on other assets  –  11,902

   11,898  14,711

 D Other non-cash expenses consists of allowance of obsolete inventories, bad debts written-off, impairment loss on  
 doubtful receivables, impairment loss on recoverable, gain on disposal and write-off of investment in associated  
 companies as presented in the respective notes to the financial statements.

 E The elimination refers to inter-segment assets.

 F The elimination refers to inter-segment liabilities.

 G Additions to non-current assets consists of additions to property, plant and equipment and financial lease receivables.
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31 December 2010

50. Segment information (cont’d)
 
 Geographical segments (cont’d)

 Revenue and non-current asset information based on the geographical location of customers and asset, respectively are  
 as follows:
 Revenue Non-current asset
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000    

  (Restated)   (Restated)  

 
 China  27,469  34,736  49  189
 Indonesia 25,309  71,223  13,155  15,809
 Malaysia 2,975  6,230  –  –
 Singapore  28,674 43,365  43,098  89,146
 Thailand  5,818 3,122  –  2
 USA 151 5,160  –  –
 UK  379  1,564  166  233
 UAE 928 2,782  –  –
 Vietnam  10,203  3,814  –  –
 Oman  2,904  8,509  –  –
 Italy  64,066  38,061 –  –
 Other  11,195  7,918  –  –
 
 Consolidated  180,071  226,484  56,468  105,379

 Non-current asset information presented above consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets (excluding  
 goodwill) and other assets as presented in the consolidated balance sheet.
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31 December 2010

51. Related party transactions

 (a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

  In addition to those related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant 
transactions between Group and related parties took place at terms agreed between the parties during the financial 
year:

  Group
  2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

  Sales of goods and services to:   
  - related parties – (31,414)
  - associated companies (303) (461)
  Purchase of goods and services from:   
  - associated companies 1,943 2,745 
  - a company in which a substantial shareholder of
      the Company is also a director and shareholder 55,953 36,703
  Management fees received from associated companies (168) (168)
  Dividend income received from associated companies – (26)
  Interest income received from associated companies (652) (781)
  Loans to associated companies 667 456
  Secretarial fee paid to a director-related firm 14 18
  Professional fees paid to director-related firms 99 44
  Royalties paid to an associated company  6  3

  

  Company/firm related to a director

  During the financial year, two of the directors of the Company who are also directors of a secretarial and professional 
firms, respectively provided secretarial and professional services to the Group for an amount of approximately 
$114,000 (2009: $32,000). Approximately $19,000 (2009: $10,000) was outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period.
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51. Related party transactions (cont’d)
 
 (b) Compensation of key management personnel

  Group
  2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

   
  Short-term employee benefits  2,650  2,790
  Defined contributions  85  119
  Other short-term benefits  190  190
  
  Total compensation paid to key management personnel  2,925  3,099
  
  Comprise amounts paid to :
     Directors of the Company  1,269  1,806
     Other key management personnel  1,656  1,293
  
   2,925  3,099 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2010

52. Events occurring after the reporting period

 Increase in investment in subsidiary

 The Company had increased its investment in one of the subsidiary company, Federal Hardware Engineering Co Pte Ltd  
 by $5.0 million on 20 January 2011. The consideration for the investment was via cash.

 Disposal of vessel

 A 60%-owned subsidiary company of the Company, Federal Offshore Services Pte Ltd (“FOS”) has completed its sale  
 of a vessel, Federal I on 24 March 2011 for a consideration of approximately $37,641,000 (US$29,100,000) to a third  
 party. The Group will realise an estimated net gain of approximately $5,363,000 (US$4,074,000). The proceeds will 
 improve the Group’s liquidity by providing additional cash to the Group of approximately $23,171,000 (US$17,601,000) for  
 working capital purpose after deducting expenses in relation to the disposal and repayment of shareholders’ loan 
 provided to FOS and term loans for the vessel.

 Disposal of subsidiary company

 On 22 March 2011, the Company announced that the shares of PT Gasuma have been transferred to the purchaser after  
 approval from Indonesian Ministry of Law and Human Rights and PT Gasuma has ceased to be a subsidiary company of  
 Federal Hardware Engineering Co Pte Ltd.

53.  Authorisation of financial statement for issue

 The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution  
 of the Directors on 8 April 2011.
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Issued and Fully Paid-up Capital : $133,623,544.82
Total No. of Shares : 916,043,490 Ordinary shares
Voting rights : One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS 

Size of Shareholding Number of Shareholders % Number of Shares %

1  -            999  190 3.03 15,110 0.00
1,000   -       10,000 1,112 17.74 6,873,608 0.75
10,001  -  1,000,000 4,904 78.23 402,798,124 43.97
1,000,001  and above 63 1.00 506,356,648 55.28
      6,269 100.00 916,043,490 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 

No.  Name of Shareholders  Number of Shares  %

1.  Fame Asia Limited 107,039,930 11.69
2.  Koh Kian Kiong                 61,209,999 6.68
3.  SBS Nominees Pte Ltd           41,638,997 4.55
4.  Yang Yi-Chung (Joseph Yang)                 38,326,500 4.18
5.  OCBC Securities Private Ltd    36,792,312 4.02
6.  Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd.   32,948,584 3.60 
7.  UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd           26,355,399 2.88
8.  United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 13,309,197 1.45
9.  Phillip Securities Pte Ltd     9,438,100 1.03
10.  Chan Tat Soon                  9,184,000 1.00
11.  Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd   8,891,112 0.97
12.  DBS Nominees Pte Ltd           8,749,063 0.95
13.  DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd   7,352,204 0.80
14.  John Yeo Teck Soon             6,400,000 0.70
15.  Koh Yan Yock 5,692,000 0.62
16.  CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd 4,811,057 0.53
17.  OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 4,579,869 0.50
18.  Goh Kay Huat 4,160,000 0.45
19.  Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd 3,898,000 0.43
20.  Mayban Nominees (S) Pte Ltd  3,388,700 0.37
  Total  434,165,023  47.40
 
 

Statistics of Shareholdings 
As At 21 March 2011
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Statistics of Shareholdings 
As At 21 March 2011

SHAREHOLDING OF THE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

 Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %

    
Koh Kian Kiong (1) 61,209,999             6.68 75,809,996 8.28
Fame Asia Limited (2) 107,039,930 11.69 –  –
Yang Yi-Chung 38,326,500 4.18 12,999,998 1.42
Leung, Jonathan Kwok Hung (3) – – 107,039,930 11.69

Notes:

(1) Koh Kian Kiong’s deemed interest in 75,809,996 shares comprises
 a) deemed interest in 13,259,999 shares registered in the name of UOB Kay Hian Private Limited
    b) deemed interest in 1,950,000 shares registered in the name of CIMB-GK Securities Pte Ltd
    c) deemed interest in 12,999,999 shares registered in the name of Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd
    d) deemed interest in 41,599,998 shares registered in the name of SB Nominees Pte Ltd
    e) deemed interest in 6,000,000 shares registered in the name of OCBC Securities Pte Ltd

(2)  Yang Yi-Chung has a deemed interest in 51,326,498 shares registered in the name of Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd

(3)  Leung, Jonathan Kwok Hung is the sole shareholder of Fame Asia Limited
 
PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’S HANDS

84.91% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public.  Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the 
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. 
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of FEDERAL INTERNATIONAL (2000) LTD (the “Company”) will be 
held at 47 Genting Road, Singapore 349489 on Friday, 29 April 2011 at 9.00 am for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December 
2010 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.  (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association:
 
 Mr Heng Lee Seng  (Resolution 2)
 Mr Chan Lay Ho  (Resolution 3)

 Mr Heng Lee Seng will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain the Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Nominating Committee and will be considered independent for the 
purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). 

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$190,000 for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: S$190,000).
             (Resolution 4)

4. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
  (Resolution 5)

5. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.
  
AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:

6. SHARE ISSUE MANDATE

 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be given to the Directors of the Company to issue shares (“Shares”) whether 
by way of rights, bonus or otherwise, and/or make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that 
might or would require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments 
to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares at any time and upon such terms and conditions and 
to such persons as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that:
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 (a) the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted 
pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, of which the aggregate 
number of Shares and convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to all shareholders of the 
Company shall not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) 
in the capital of the Company; 

 (b) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (a) above, 
the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) shall be based on the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at the date of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

 
  (i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities;

  (ii) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of Share awards outstanding or subsisting at 
the time this Resolution is passed; and

  (iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares; 

 (c) and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force 
(i) until the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the date by which the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or (ii) in the case of shares to be issued 
in accordance with the terms of convertible securities issued, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution, until 
the issuance of such shares in accordance with the terms of such convertible securities.

  [See Explanatory Note (i)]
  (Resolution 6)

By Order of the Board

Yvonne Choo
Hazel Chia Luang Chew
Company Secretaries

Singapore, 14 April 2011

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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Explanatory Notes on Resolutions to be passed:

(i) The Ordinary Resolution (5) proposed in item (6) above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above Meeting until 
the date of the next Annual General Meeting, to allot and issue Shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an amount not 
exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up 
to twenty percent (20%) may be issued other than on a pro rata basis.

Notes –

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in 
his/her stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

2. If the appointor is a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised officer 
or attorney.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 47 Genting Road, Singapore 349489 
not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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FEDERAL INTERNATIONAL (2000) LTD (Incorporated in Singapore) (Co. Reg. No: 199907113K)

Proxy Form
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Federal International 

(2000) Ltd’s shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the request of the CPF 
Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective 
for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

3. CPF investors who wish to vote should contact their CPF Approved 
Nominees.

!

*I/We,  

of 

being a member/members of FEDERAL INTERNATIONAL (2000) LTD  (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

  No. of Shares %

Address    
 

 
and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

  No. of Shares %

Address    
 

or failing *him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf at the Annual 
General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held on Friday, 29 April 2011 at 9.00 am and at any adjournment thereof.  
*I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder.  If no 
specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, 
the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at *his/her discretion. The authority herein includes the right to demand or to 
join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [ ] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to:  For Against

1  Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2010   

2  Re-election of Mr Heng Lee Seng as a Director  

3 Re-election of Mr Chan Lay Ho as a Director  

4 Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$190,000/-  

5 Re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors  

6 Share Issue Mandate  

 
*Delete where inapplicable

Dated this  day of  2011
      
 

Signature of Shareholder(s)/
and, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

Total number of Shares in:  No. of Shares

(a)  CDP Register 

(b)  Register of Members 

Total number of Shares in:  No. of Shares
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Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository  
 Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of  
 Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares.   
 If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the 
 Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register  
 and registered in your name in the Register of Members.  If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or  
 proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two 
 proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her  
 shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 47 Genting  
 Road, Singapore 349489 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised  
 in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either  
 under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or  
 proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof  
 must be lodged with the instrument.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it  
 thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of  
 Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed 
or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company 
may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares 
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, 
as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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Executive
Mr Koh Kian Kiong (chairman & chief executive officer)
Ms Maggie Koh
Mr Lim Joo Suan 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Audit Committee
Mr Heng Lee Seng (chairman)
Mr Chan Lay Ho
Mr Yee Kee Shian Leon

Nominating Committee
Mr Chan Lay Ho (chairman)
Mr Heng Lee Seng
Mr Koh Kian Kiong

Remuneration Committee
Mr Heng Lee Seng (chairman)
Mr Chan Lay Ho
Mr Yee Kee Shian Leon

Company Secretaries
Ms Yvonne Choo 
Ms Hazel Chia Luang Chew

Registered Office
47 Genting Road
Singapore 349489
T 6747 8118
F 6743 0690

Share Registrars
B.A.C.S. Private Limited
63 Cantonment Road
Singapore 089758
T (65) 6593 4848
F (65) 6593 4847

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants
Level 18 North Tower
One Raffles Quay
Singapore 048583
 
Audit Partner-In-Charge
Mr Christopher Wong 
(Since the financial year ended 31 December 2009)corporate

(the “Company” and together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Group”) was listed 
on the Mainboard of the Singapore 
Exchange Limited (“SGX”) in 2000. 

The Group’s core businesses include 
the design, manufacture, assembly, 
distribution and provision of flowline 
control products and services; research 
and development, design, manufacture 
and distribution of high pressure and 
temperature valves and related oilfield 
products; distribution of fire protection 
and detection systems; distribution of 
electrical products; and chartering of 
vessels and barges to offshore oil and 
gas related industries.

The Group is also involved in Build-
Operate-Own and Build-Operate-
Transfer projects in the power and 
utilities industry, provision of electricity 
and steam; provision of waste water 
treatment services and management 
and consultancy services for 
environmental-related projects as well 
as, businesses of sales and mining of 
coal and other natural resources.

The Company recognises Excellence as 
the key to ultimate success.

Federal 
International 
(2000) Ltd

www.federal.com.sg

Federal International (2000) Ltd • Annual Report 2010



  
  

  f
or

ging  •  forward

Federal International (2000) Ltd
(Registration No. 199907113K)

47/49 Genting Road Singapore 349489
Tel: (65) 6747 8118
Fax: (65) 6743 0690/6745 0048

www.federal .com.sg

Annual report 2010

F
e

d
e

ra
l In

te
rn

a
tio

n
a

l (2
0

0
0

) L
td

 •
 F

O
R

G
IN

G
 F

O
R

W
A

R
D

 •
 A

n
n

u
a

l re
p

o
rt 2

0
1

0


